

DELFT UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Faculty of Electrical Engineering, Mathematics & Computer Science MSC in Sustainable Energy Technology

Combining Parametric and Structural Uncertainty in Optimization Modelling for Sustainable Energy Systems.

December 10, 2021

*Author:* Y.I. van Til 4354117 Graduation committee: Prof. dr. ir. W. de Jong (TU Delft) Dr. ir. L. van Biert (TU Delft) Dr. F. Lombardi (TU Delft) Ir. S. Schoffer (Witteveen + Bos) Dr. ir. P. Heijnen (ext. TU Delft)

#### Preface

In the past 10 months, I had the opportunity to expand the knowledge of energy system modelling in cooperation with Witteveen + Bos and the Technical University of Delft. It was the biggest solo project of my study career, resulting in many challenges and lessons learnt along the way. For Witteveen + Bos, Samuel has been my daily supervisor. He helped me with almost everything I needed for my thesis to be of sufficient quality through both the companies' eyes, as well as the TU's. The weekly meetings and the urge to create my own deadlines kept me on track and focused on the important aspects. Samuel, thank you for being the perfect support for my thesis and thank you for helping me find my way within W+B.

As most TU Delft supervision candidates with the perfect background were too occupied with other work, finding proper supervision in this subject was hard in the beginning of my thesis. Luckily, Wiebren and Lindert were there to accept me as their thesis student and help me get started nonetheless. About 2 months in, Francesco started his new job at the University of Delft, providing the perfect expertise to help me shape my thesis research. Francesco allowed me to use his baby (read the SPOREs method) and try and improve parts of it with this thesis. Francesco, thank you for providing in depth value to the research and thank you for helping me find ways to move forward with it when I was stuck. Wiebren and Lindert, thank you for explaining and maintaining the right process steps in this thesis and thank you for your excellent supervision.

In general I want to thank my MSC friends, first rowing team, heavyweight rowing team, compoacht team, Swiss friends and BEP group for providing me with the necessary distractions and good times during the weekends and evenings. I want to thank Alec, Mike and Vincent for providing tips and guidelines on how to go about doing a thesis in general. A big thank you to Jan and Mitchel for providing feedback on my report content, and Willemijn for helping out big time with the report layout and design. I am grateful for my parents, stepparents, the in laws and siblings for their indefinite support during my studies. And last but not least, I want to thank Lotte for being my infinite well of support and life jacket during the challenging times and for being critical when it was most necessary.

> Yannick van Til Delft, December 2021

#### Abstract

The swift reduction of human's carbon footprint is essential to prevent irreversible damage to the climate and to meet climate policy targets. Designing flexible and reliable future energy systems is a big contributor to meeting these goals. While energy system models have improved in the last few decades, they remain vulnerable against parametric and structural uncertainty due to the varying characteristics of parameters and the hardship of modelling all constraints and drivers accurately. This thesis proposes a method that addresses both uncertainty types in energy system modelling by applying SPORES cost optimisation and Monte Carlo scenario modelling simultaneously.

The main case study uses 27 input scenarios with varying outcomes for grid electricity price, solar yield and energy consumption to provide insight in a 100 household neighbourhood energy system with heating, cooling, electricity and hydrogen as energy carriers. With 1377 (near-)optimal solutions, a novel approach in analysis and post processing is used to provide 52 useful configuration options that each have their strengths and weaknesses to different political, economical, social and technical drivers. These configurations are tested for cost, security of supply, CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and grid dependency. Those results are visualised through ridge plots and statistical tables to provide a clear overview between each configuration's trade-offs. An example is included to show how those results can be used for improving energy system design in practice.

This thesis shows that two methods can successfully be combined into one universal one, while providing valuable design insights for energy systems under uncertainty. Furthermore, this method can be applied to a wide variety of energy systems, as long as its possible components, their technical aspects and their allowed interactions are known beforehand. As many future energy system aspects are uncertain, it should be seen as a vital tool to help speed up the decarbonization.

### Contents

1	Intr	oduction 3
	1.1	Transition Necessity and Energy System Modelling    3
	1.2	Energy System Modelling: Simulation and Optimization 4
	1.3	Energy System Modelling and Uncertainty 5
	1.4	Research Questions and General Scope
		1.4.1 Motivation of the Research Questions
	1.5	Thesis Structure   7
2	The	pretical Background 9
	2.1	Optimization
		2.1.1 Optimization Methodology with Example
		2.1.2 Optimization Types
	2.2	Addressing Parametric Uncertainty 13
		2.2.1 Parametric Uncertainty: MCA/MCS
		2.2.2 Parametric Uncertainty Method Choice: MCS 14
	2.3	Addressing Structural Uncertainty
		2.3.1 Structural Uncertainty: MGA
		2.3.2 Structural Uncertainty: SPOREs 14
		2.3.3 Structural Uncertainty Method Choice: SPOREs
	2.4	Method: ESM Frameworks 16
		2.4.1 Framework Choice: Calliope 16
		2.4.2 Calliope Operation Methodology
		2.4.3 Calliope Solver Choice
	2.5	Uncertainty in ESM
		2.5.1 Choice of Uncertain Variables
		2.5.2 Techniques to Characterise Uncertain Variables 19
		2.5.3 Historic Data Sources (Databases) 19
	2.6	Thesis Scope         20
		2.6.1 General Scope
		2.6.2 Stochastic Variables
		2.6.3 System Modelling 20
		2.6.4         Outside Scope         20
3	Met	hod 22
	3.1	Computational Workflow
		3.1.1 Inputs
		3.1.2 Optimization Strategy
		3.1.3 Configurations Solution Space
		3.1.4 Configuration Selection 26
		3.1.5 Testable Configurations

		3.1.6 H	Evaluation		27
		3.1.7 I	Results		28
		3.1.8 I	Recap Workflow		30
	3.2		*		31
	3.3				32
	0.0		Energy System Configuration		32
			Modelling Assumptions and Choices		33
			Simulation Options		34
					35
			Visualised Input Data		
		3.3.5 I	Recap Additional Simulations		35
4	Res	ulto			38
4					
	4.1				38
			Configuration Solution Space		38
			Configuration Selection and Testable Configurations		39
			Results		40
	4.2				41
			Configuration Solution Space		41
		4.2.2	Configuration Selection		44
		4.2.3 I	Results		46
	4.3	Finalise	ed Design Advice		51
	4.4		onal Simulations		52
			15 VS 50 SPOREs & 15% Slack VS 50% Slack		52
			Advanced Configuration Selection Method		53
		1.1.2 1			00
5	Dise	cussion			55
-	5.1		Dbjectives and Key Findings		55
	5.2				55
	5.3		ic Impact and Practical Applications		57
	0.0				
					57
6	Con				59
6	<b>Con</b> 6.1	clusion			59
6	6.1	clusion Answer	rs to Research Questions		<b>59</b> 59
6	6.1 6.2	c <b>lusion</b> Answer General	rs to Research Questions		<b>59</b> 59 60
6	6.1	c <b>lusion</b> Answer General	rs to Research Questions		<b>59</b> 59
-	6.1 6.2 6.3	<b>clusion</b> Answer General Recomn	rs to Research Questions		<b>59</b> 59 60
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog	<b>clusion</b> Answer General Recomn <b>raphy</b>	rs to Research Questions		<b>59</b> 59 60 60
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog	<b>clusion</b> Answer General Recomn	rs to Research Questions		<ul> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog	clusion Answer General Recomm graphy e 1 Contin	rs to Research Questions	  	<b>59</b> 59 60 60 <b>67</b>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case	clusion Answer General Recomn raphy e 1 Conti Parame	rs to Research Questions	  	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case	clusion Answer General Recomm graphy e 1 Conti Paramet A.1.1	rs to Research Questions	· · · · ·	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case	clusion Answer General Recomm raphy e 1 Conti Paramet A.1.1 T A.1.2 U	rs to Research Questions	· · · · ·	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case	clusion Answer General Recomm raphy e 1 Conti Paramet A.1.1 A.1.2 I A.1.3	rs to Research Questions	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>69</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case	clusion Answer General Recomm raphy e 1 Conti Paramet A.1.1 T A.1.2 T A.1.3 T A.1.3 T A.1.4 S	rs to Research Questions	· · · · · · · · · ·	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case	clusion Answer General Recomm raphy e 1 Conti A.1.1 T A.1.2 T A.1.3 T A.1.4 S A.1.5 H	rs to Research Questions	· · · · · · · · · ·	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case	clusion Answer General Recomm raphy e 1 Conti Paramet A.1.1 T A.1.2 U A.1.3 U A.1.4 S A.1.5 H A.1.6 H	rs to Research Questions	<ul> <li></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case	clusion Answer General Recomm raphy e 1 Conti Paramet A.1.1 T A.1.2 U A.1.3 U A.1.3 U A.1.4 S A.1.5 H A.1.6 H A.1.7 H	rs to Research Questions	<ul> <li></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case	clusion Answer General Recomm raphy e 1 Conti Paramet A.1.1 T A.1.2 U A.1.3 U A.1.3 U A.1.4 S A.1.5 H A.1.6 H A.1.7 H A.1.8 H	rs to Research Questions	<ul> <li></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>70</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case	clusion Answer General Recomm raphy e 1 Conti A.1.1 T A.1.2 U A.1.3 U A.1.3 U A.1.4 S A.1.5 H A.1.6 H A.1.6 H A.1.7 H A.1.8 H A.1.9 J	rs to Research Questions	<ul> <li></li> <li></li></ul>	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case	clusion Answer General Recomm raphy e 1 Conti A.1.1 T A.1.2 U A.1.3 U A.1.3 U A.1.4 S A.1.5 H A.1.6 H A.1.6 H A.1.7 H A.1.8 H A.1.9 H A.1.10 U	rs to Research Questions	<ul> <li></li> <li></li></ul>	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case A.1	clusion Answer General Recomm raphy e 1 Conti A.1.2 U A.1.3 U A.1.3 U A.1.4 S A.1.5 H A.1.6 H A.1.6 H A.1.7 H A.1.8 H A.1.9 H A.1.10 C A.1.11 H	rs to Research Questions	<ul> <li></li></ul>	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case A.1	clusion Answer General Recomm raphy e 1 Conti Paramet A.1.1 T A.1.2 U A.1.3 U A.1.4 S A.1.5 H A.1.6 H A.1.6 H A.1.7 H A.1.8 H A.1.9 H A.1.10 C A.1.11 H Uncerta	rs to Research Questions	<ul> <li></li></ul>	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case A.1	clusion Answer General Recomm raphy e 1 Conti Paramet A.1.1 T A.1.2 U A.1.3 U A.1.4 S A.1.5 H A.1.6 H A.1.6 H A.1.7 H A.1.8 H A.1.9 H A.1.10 C A.1.11 H Uncerta	rs to Research Questions	<ul> <li></li></ul>	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case A.1	clusion Answer General Recomm raphy e 1 Contin Paramet A.1.1 T A.1.2 U A.1.3 U A.1.3 U A.1.4 S A.1.5 H A.1.6 H A.1.7 H A.1.6 H A.1.7 H A.1.8 H A.1.9 H A.1.10 C A.1.11 H Uncerta Algorith	rs to Research Questions	<ul> <li></li></ul>	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> <li>70</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case A.1	clusion Answer General Recomm raphy e 1 Contin Paramet A.1.1 T A.1.2 U A.1.3 U A.1.3 U A.1.4 S A.1.5 H A.1.6 H A.1.7 H A.1.7 H A.1.8 H A.1.9 H A.1.10 C A.1.11 H Uncerta Algorith Solutior	rs to Research Questions	<ul> <li></li></ul>	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>70</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case A.1	clusion Answer General Recomm raphy e 1 Conti Paramet A.1.1 T A.1.2 U A.1.3 U A.1.3 U A.1.4 S A.1.5 H A.1.6 H A.1.7 H A.1.8 H A.1.7 H A.1.8 H A.1.9 I A.1.10 U A.1.11 I Uncerta Algorith Solutior A.4.1 N	rs to Research Questions	<ul> <li></li> <li></li></ul>	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>59</li> <li>60</li> <li>60</li> <li>67</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>68</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>70</li> <li>71</li> <li>72</li> </ul>
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case A.1	clusion Answer General Recomment <b>raphy</b> e 1 Contin Parament A.1.1 T A.1.2 T A.1.3 T A.1.3 T A.1.4 S A.1.5 H A.1.6 H A.1.7 H A.1.8 H A.1.9 H A.1.10 C A.1.11 H Uncerta Algorith Solution A.4.1 M A.4.2 S	rs to Research Questions	<ul> <li>-</li> <li>-&lt;</li></ul>	<b>59</b> 59 60 60 <b>67</b> <b>68</b> 68 68 68 69 69 69 69 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 72 72
Bi	6.1 6.2 6.3 bliog Case A.1	clusion Answer General Recomm raphy e 1 Conti A.1.2 U A.1.3 U A.1.2 U A.1.3 U A.1.4 S A.1.5 H A.1.6 H A.1.7 H A.1.6 H A.1.7 H A.1.8 H A.1.9 H A.1.10 C A.1.11 I Uncerta Algorith Solutior A.4.1 M A.4.2 S A.4.3 S	rs to Research Questions	<ul> <li></li></ul>	<b>59</b> 60 60 <b>67</b> <b>68</b> 68 68 68 69 69 69 69 69 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70

	A.5 A.6	A.4.5Configuration Selection and Testable Configurations Continued:Problems and Discussion Case 1References Case 1	73 74 75
B	Para	metric Uncertainty Approaches Continued	76
	B.1	Parametric Uncertainty: Stochastic Programming (SP)	76
	B.2	Parametric Uncertainty: Robust Optimization (RO)	77
С	Case	e 2 Continued	78
	C.1	Parameters	78
		C.1.1 General	78
		C.1.2 Chosen Physical Limitations for Neighbourhood of 100 Households	79
		C.1.3 Uncertain Profiles	79
		C.1.4 Heat Pumps	80
		C.1.5 Heat and Cold Storage	80
		C.1.6 Electrical Li-ion Battery	81
		C.1.7 PEM Fuel Cell	81
		C.1.8 PEM Electrolyzer	81
		C.1.9 Hydrogen Storage	81
		C.1.10 Hydrogen Boiler	81
		C.1.11 PV	82
		C.1.12 Electricity Export	82
		C.1.13 Grid	82
		C.1.14 Electrical Cables	82
		C.1.15 Heating Pipes	82
		C.1.16 Cooling Pipes	82
		C.1.17 Hydrogen Pipes	82
	C.2	Simulation Options	83
	C.3	Additional Results	83
	C.4	Overview	83
	C.5	References Appendix Case 2	84

## **List of Figures**

1.1	Atmospheric $CO_2$ concentration during the industrial era. A steep increase in concentration is visible between 1960 and 2000. Source: Keeling et al [1].	4
<ol> <li>2.1</li> <li>2.2</li> <li>2.3</li> <li>2.4</li> </ol>	The constraint lines of a simple optimization problem	10 11 13
	models. Source: Calliope documentation [4]).	17
3.1 3.2	A simplified version of the methods' workflow	23
3.3	sents south faced panels, under an inclination of 35°	23
3.4	of 2 m	23
3.5	technology options. In location 3, there is room for solar panels to be installed [6] Solution 1 (optimal solution, SPORE 0) for one input scenario. The optimal and cheapest solution only uses two electricity cables (loc1-loc3 and loc2-loc3). The max PV amount is installed	24
3.6	and both locations have 50 kWh of battery installed	25 25
3.7	Solution 3 (SPORE 2) for one input scenario. With the same cost, the second SPORE results in a configuration with fewer electricity cables, fewer PV panels, and a spread-out battery capacity.	
3.8	This configuration depends more on grid electricity	25
2.0	amount of PV panels, but no batteries.	25 25
3.9 3.10	The time-series in [kW] for electricity and electrical storage of a single solution The technology capacity solutions for SPORE 0, 1, 2 and 3, for one input scenario, visualised	
	in a box-plot. Battery loc1 has a larger spread than the electricity lines between 2 and 3	26
	Workflow of the advanced configuration selection.	27
5.12	A result time-series for electricity [kW], for a selected configuration and one of the input sce- narios. Despite always using the maximum grid capacity, in February, there is still unmet	
	demand thanks to the lower solar yield. This unmet demand is used to calculate the Security	
	of Supply.	28

3.13	An example of a total cost. In the histogram plot, all results in between two bin limits will be	
	summed to obtain the total count for that bin. The total amount of input scenarios is equal to	
	the total count. Source: Delle Monache et al [7].	29
3.14	An example of a ridge plot. For each testable configuration (in this plot represented by "ideal",	
	"premium", "very good", "good" and "fair"), the histogram for one performance indicator can	
	be plotted in a ridge plot. Source: Holtz et al [8].	29
3.15	The performance of all chosen configurations against security of supply and cost. Each blue	
	dot represents a testable configuration. Source: Seed Energy [9]	30
3.16	The filled workflow.	30
	The spatial configuration of case 1. 3 locations are connected through electricity cables	31
	Energy system spatial configuration case 2	32
	An example of an annual time-series for the grid electricity price in the Netherlands in 2017.	35
	The annual demand for electricity, cooling and heating for case 2 (Appendix C).	35
	An example of Average monthly yield in kW per installed kWp of solar panels, based on	55
0.21	location "The Bilt", from the year 2017 [5]. Base case = $0\%$ , sunny case = $+15\%$ , cloudy case =	
	-15%. Each case has a 33% probability of occurrence (Appendix C).	36
	-15%. Each case has a 55% probability of occurrence (Appendix C).	50
4.1	Boxplot for the Electricity cable connections between all 3 locations.	38
4.2	Boxplot for the installed battery capacities on locations X1 and X2.	38
4.3	The installed electrical demand capacity for locations X1 and X2.	38
4.4	Box-plot for the PV and Grid technologies on locations X1 and X2.	39
4.4 4.5	Cost histogram Configuration 1.	40
		40 40
4.6	Cost histogram Configuration 2.	
4.7	Cost histogram Configuration 3.	40
4.8	Cost histogram Configuration 4.	40
4.9	CO <sub>2</sub> histogram Configuration 1.	40
	CO <sub>2</sub> histogram Configuration 2.	40
	CO <sub>2</sub> histogram Configuration 3.	40
	CO <sub>2</sub> histogram Configuration 4.	40
	Energy capacity distributions for 4 different SPOREs, for input scenario 1.	41
	Storage capacity distributions for 4 different SPOREs, for input scenario 1	41
	Annual storage [kWh] time-series for SPORE 38, for input scenario 1	42
4.16	Electricity carrier flow [kW] time-series for SPORE 38 during a summer week, for input sce-	40
4 1 1	nario 1	42
	Heat storage [kW] time-series for SPORE 38 during a winter week, for input scenario 1	42
	Box-plot for the Energy capacity of the Storage technologies for all input scenarios	43
	Box-plot for the Energy capacity of the Hydrogen technologies for all input scenarios.	43
	Box-plot for the Energy capacity of the Generation technologies for all input scenarios	43
	Box-plot for the Storage capacity [kWh] of the Storage technologies for all input scenarios	43
	Filtered box-plot for the generation technology energy capacity for all input scenarios	44
	Filtered box-plot for the hydrogen technology energy capacity for all input scenarios	44
	Filtered box-plot for the storage technology energy capacity for all input scenarios	45
	Filtered box-plot for the storage technology storage capacity for all input scenarios.	45
4.26	Cost histogram for configuration 7 (top 10% filter for high electrical export capacity), against	
	all input scenarios with a mean of 4.45 Million Euros (NPV)	46
4.27	Cost histogram for configuration 9 (bottom 10% filter for low electrical export capacity), against	
	all input scenarios with a mean of 4.95 Million Euros (NPV)	46
4.28	Ridge-plot of the cost distribution for only the interesting configurations against all input sce-	
	narios for its entire lifetime. St means storage.	47
4.29	Ridge-plot of the grid dependency distribution for only the interesting configurations against	
	all input scenarios. St means storage.	48
4.30	Ridge-plot of the CO <sub>2</sub> distribution for the interesting configurations against all input scenarios	
	for its entire lifetime. St means storage.	49
4.31	CO <sub>2</sub> VS Grid dependency plot.	50
	CO <sub>2</sub> VS Security of Supply plot.	50
	$CO_2$ VS Cost plot	50

4.34	Cost VS Grid Dependency plot.	50
	Cost VS Security of Supply plot.	50
	Grid dependency VS Security of Supply plot	50
	3D plot of Cost, CO <sub>2</sub> and security of supply	50
	Energy capacities for technologies for configuration 24.	51
	Storage capacities for technologies for configuration 24.	51
	Box-plot for the Storage capacity [kWh] for all storage technologies with all input scenarios at	01
1.10	15% slack and 15 SPOREs.	52
4 4 1	Box-plot for the Storage capacity [kWh] for all storage technologies with all input scenarios at	-02
1.11	15% slack and 50 SPOREs.	52
4 4 2	Box-plot for the Storage capacity [kWh] for all storage technologies with all input scenarios at	02
1.12	50% slack and 50 SPOREs.	52
1 13	Box-plot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all generation technologies with all input scenarios	52
4.45	at 15% slack and 15 SPOREs.	53
4 4 4		55
4.44	Box-plot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all generation technologies with all input scenarios	<b>-</b> 2
4 4 -	at 15% slack and 50 SPOREs.	53
4.45	Box-plot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all generation technologies with all input scenarios	
	at 50% slack and 50 SPOREs.	53
4.46	Boxplot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all hydrogen technologies with all input scenarios at	
	15% slack and 15 SPOREs.	53
4.47	Boxplot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all hydrogen technologies with all input scenarios at	
	15% slack and 50 SPOREs	53
4.48	Boxplot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all hydrogen technologies with all input scenarios at	
	50% slack and 50 SPOREs	53
4.49	Boxplot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all storage technologies with all input scenarios at	
	15% slack and 15 SPOREs	54
4.50	Boxplot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all storage technologies with all input scenarios at	
	15% slack and 50 SPOREs	54
4.51	Boxplot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all storage technologies with all input scenarios at	
	50% slack and 50 SPOREs	54
6.1	An advanced version of the spatial configuration of case 2	61
A.1	An example of an annual (2005) timeseries for the solar yield, used in case 1	71
A.2	An example of an annual (2005) timeseries for the electrical demand, used in case 1	71
A.3	Yearly averages for the solar yield in 2005-2019 for locations X1 (50°) and X2 (0°), used in case 1.	71
A.4	Yearly averages for the electrical demand in 2005-2019 for locations X1 and X2, used in case 1.	71
A.5	Monthly averages for the solar yield in 2005 for locations X1 (50°) and X2 (0°), used in case 1.	71
A.6	Monthly averages for the electrical demand in 2005 for locations X1 and X2, used in case 1.	71
A.7	Single solutions for SPOREs 0, 1, 3 and 4	72
A.8	Timeseries for the electrical and storage flows during a winter week, for input scenario 1,	
	SPORE 0	72
A.9	Timeseries for the electrical and storage flows during a summer week, for input scenario 1,	
	SPORE 0	73
A.10	Timeseries for the electrical flows during a week in autumn, for input scenario 1, SPORE 0.	73
0	interester for the electrical norte during a week in auturnity for input scenario 1, of OKE 0.	.0
B.1	Multiple stage, stochastic programming decision tree [2.2.2.0, Cobuloglu].	76
C.1	CO <sub>2</sub> distribution SPORE 0 scenario 1	83
C.2	Cost distribution SPORE 0 scenario 1	83

## **List of Tables**

1.1	Aspects of Simulation and Optimization.	5
2.1 2.2	Optimization types in literature [10] [11] [12] [2] [13]	12
	tion in ESM.	18
3.1	Input scenarios for case 2	34
4.1 4.2	Summary results case 1	40 45
4.3	Overview of statistical data for all interesting configurations. the mean and STD values for cost, SOS, $CO_2$ and grid dependency are displayed.	51
A.1	The configurations, selected from the configuration solution space through the cumbersome selection method.	74
C.1 C.2 C.3	Assumptions and Parameters of Case 2	78 79 83

# **1** Introduction

This chapter, in sections 1.1, 1.2, and 1.3, background information substantiating the research questions (section 1.4) and the general scope is provided. Section 1.1 explains the necessity for a sustainable energy transition and the relevance of energy system modelling (ESM). In section 1.2, the two main ESM approaches "simulation" and "optimization" are elaborated. In section 1.3, parametric and structural uncertainty are addressed further and the difference between stochastic and deterministic parameters within ESMs is explained. Section 1.4 entails the research questions and section 1.5 the report structure.

#### 1.1 Transition Necessity and Energy System Modelling

Over the last 800000 years, the carbon dioxide ( $CO_2$ ) concentration in the earth's atmosphere has never reached higher concentration than 300 parts per million (ppm) until around 1910 [14] [15]. The annual concentration of  $CO_2$  particles has only increased since then [1]. The significant increase in  $CO_2$  concentration is strongly correlated to the human population increase [16], and the resulting increase in fossil fuel combustion [17] to meet its growing energy demand [18].  $CO_2$  is one of the greenhouse gases that contribute to temperature increase in the earth's atmosphere. Heat is prevented to leave the earth's atmosphere, due to  $CO_2$ 's capacity to absorb radiative heat [19]. The rising temperature contributes to an increased ocean and air temperature, increased frequency of extreme weather events (heat waves, drought, heavy precipitation and flooding due to higher sea levels), loss of ecosystems and an increased risk of endangering food production systems, human health, and tourism [20] [21]. Reducing human's footprint and transitioning to a more sustainable society is therefore essential to reduce those risks.

Transitioning to a more sustainable society is complex due to a large amount and wide variation of relevant actors and interests. Such a transition is substantiated by aspects in economic geography, science innovation, organisational strategy, sociology, and modelling [22]. The engineering consultancy company Witteveen + Bos (W+B) aims to support this sustainable transition by executing more than 3000 projects annually in the fields of water, infrastructure, environment, and construction. By doing so, goals of sustainable development are central in executing these projects [23]. Many of these project's hinge on the development of energy systems that need to be reliable and flexible in design due to uncertain aspects of future energy system behaviour.

Energy system design is evolving over time as well because of the changing scope of future energy systems. With the changing political agendas and the rise of cheaper and more efficient (sustainable) technologies, new challenges come to light. Energy production will become heavily dependent on unpredictable weather due to the increasing share in solar and wind [24] [25] [26]. Moreover, the desire to be self-sustainable or energy neutral on a decentralised scale is increasing. Meaning that choices of a single actor, can influence the systems' behaviour more radically than in larger scaled energy systems. Furthermore, economical aspects of future technologies are different. In the past, over-sizing a diesel generator (capital expenditures, CAPEX) did not have large



Figure 1.1: Atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentration during the industrial era. A steep increase in concentration is visible between 1960 and 2000. Source: Keeling et al [1].

consequences for the total system costs as most costs resulted from purchasing fuel (operating expenditures, OPEX). With emerging technologies like wind and solar, the sizing defines most of the costs since there is as good as no fuel cost. Additionally, under-sizing or over-sizing might even result in an energy system not being feasible or being much more expensive than required. All these uncertainties implore the need for methods that can calculate these aspects and their consequences beforehand to decide on the best design.

Going about designing energy systems with aspects on this level of complexity requires a more sophisticated design approach. The design of such energy systems relies more and more on the use of models [27] [28]. An ESM includes all the components and their interactions, that are required for the generation, conversion, transmission, and consumption of energy within a specified energy system working area [29]. ESMs provide scientific, financial, industrial, and political insights through the computational combination of engineering, economic and environmental perspectives [30] [31]. These insights are used to help plan, design, and implement said energy systems in society. According to literature, modelling of energy systems is applied in different levels of variable types, theoretical substantiation, technological depth, timescales, spatial scales, and model purposes [32]. This substantiates that energy system modelling is applied in many forms.

#### 1.2 Energy System Modelling: Simulation and Optimization

Two general ESM approaches are distinguished: simulation and optimization [33], with each their benefits to improve energy system design. Optimization finds an optimal energy system design configuration for a chosen objective function such as minimising cost,  $CO_2$  emissions or energy use [34]. Despite being heavily dependent on the correct interpretation and representation of component behaviour and inputs for reliable results, optimization is a very strong tool to finding cost-effective design. In general, optimization models suffer a heavier computational burden than simulation models [33].

Simulation focuses on analysing the performance of an energy system design for certain scenarios in which key parameters are modified. With simulation models, the user oversees making the crucial decisions in defining these different scenarios. While in optimization the crucial segment is defining the system component behaviour. In the simulation approach, both high scoring and bad scoring scenarios are analysed, whereas in optimization, only the best solution is considered. Therefore, the reasons why sub-optimal solutions operate worse are not discovered in optimization, while this

behaviour can be found and understood by comparing those scenarios in simulation. Optimization techniques are "blind" for non-optimal options, and must be modified by hand to see alternative near-optimal structurally different solutions [33].

	Simulation	Optimization
Definition	Model that tests the performance of a system configuration for certain user-defined scenarios.	Model that solves for an optimal system configuration by an objective function with system restraints.
Model output	Performance of system for given scenarios.	Optimal system configuration for given objective function.
Computational burden	Low	High
Human error	In defining the scenarios to test the system on.	In Defining the model relations, behavior, and model inputs.
Benefit	Can understand the sensitivity of decision variables by comparing different scenarios.	Ability to determine competitive, cost- effective solutions in a quantitative way without emotions.
Downside	Scenarios are defined by user and are likely sub-optimal and too dependent on user expertise to define reliant/ relevant scenarios.	Cannot look past the optimal solution and does not directly understand which decision variables have more influence.

Cost-effective optimal designs have to be identified and used in order to provide competitive, longterm energy system solutions in modern ESM that can provoke the energy transition. These energy system optimization models (ESOM) have been extensively applied to provide essential insights on all scales, proving optimization models to be crucial for energy system design [35]. However, the loss of resolution in the solution space of optimization methods is not desired since future uncertainties in the energy system are imminent. The preferred ESM technique is essentially one that can combine the benefits of optimization and simulation modelling and can find optimal solutions, while preserving the flexibility to design in structurally different ways to cope with future uncertainties. In some cases, the strengths of both optimization and simulation models are already combined in a single model [36, 37, 38, 39] [36] [37] [38] [39]. Nonetheless, in these cases a concise approach that can summarise and analyse the results in a structured manner still lacks.

#### 1.3 Energy System Modelling and Uncertainty

Addressing uncertainty is an important aspect within ESM [40]. Literature [29] [41] defines 2 kinds of uncertainty, namely parametric and structural. Parametric uncertainty is the result of misrepresenting parameters in a model due to a lack of knowledge about them (like weather data, demand forecasts and fluctuating prices). Structural uncertainty is the discrepancy that results from the equations and interactions that define a model compared to the real system (like unmodelled objective functions and unmodelled constraints). Both types of uncertainties are an important challenge within ESOMs. Parametric uncertainty is often high as many future parameters are not perfectly predictable beforehand and can therefore not be modelled in full confidence. Structural uncertainty is often high as ESOMs only solve for a chosen objective function (usually minimise cost or CO<sub>2</sub> emissions), thereby ignoring other decision drivers like political, cultural, and normative aspects [42]. This uncertainty type can be addressed by finding structurally different solutions near the optimal solution that can satisfy objectives other than just economically optimal ones [43].

Parameters are represented in either a deterministic or stochastic manner within ESM. In the deterministic approach, all parameter behaviour and values are known (or assumed) perfectly by working with expected values. In the stochastic approach, randomness is included in the system by either representing the parameters in a stochastic distribution or by modelling a representative number of samples from it. The stochastic optimization technique greatly outperforms the deterministic one, when considering uncertainties in long-term future energy system design [44]. The deterministic approach is more suited for design scenarios with current or expected information [45], and less suitable for complicated many sided scenarios with built-in uncertainties [46].

When designing energy systems for future long-term applications, designers should consider a several features of uncertainty, well described by [47] in three aspects of *"deep uncertainty"*.

- The interactions of the essential driving forces in the long-term future are unknown beforehand.
- The way to represent vital uncertain parameters in the most realistic mathematical manner is never perfectly representable.
- One of the non-optimal alternatives may provide a more suitable solution for certain problems than the optimal solution.

A literature review [42] is conducted on how these aspects of uncertainty are systematically assessed in 34 different ESOMs. Subsequently, four techniques to apply uncertainty to ESOMs are identified, Monte Carlo Analysis (MCA), Robust Optimization (RO), Stochastic Programming (SP), and Modelling to Generate Alternatives (MGA). While MCA, RO and SP can only address parametric uncertainty, MGA provides the ability to take on structural uncertainty. Other ordinary methods to decrease the structural uncertainty are increasing complexity to improve model dynamics, involving expert opinion to define the model behaviour and model comparison. Chapter 2.2 and 2.3 address the relevant and available approaches that can tackle parametric and structural uncertainty and how they operate. It should be mentioned that there is not one best approach when including uncertainty. Therefore, the choice of approach should always depend on the desired type of insight results, the accessibility of data, and the relevant area of uncertainty [42].

Unfortunately, the complexity and computational burden of an ESM increases when any type of uncertainty is included [45]. Despite approaching more accurate and representative results, this still remains a problem for especially large scale models [48]. The manner of complexity of an energy system is established by the designer. Therefore, the trade-off between complexity, accuracy of results and computational power is important when designing computational ESMs and should always be considered when choosing the model configurations. Eventually, the added accuracy decreases with added complexity, meaning that increasing complexity does not add marginal value to the added accuracy at a certain point [49].

Although various methods are available to take on each type of mentioned uncertainty, there is a deficit in literature where both are applied simultaneously [50] [51], let alone in a systematic way. There is need for a systematic approach that includes parametric and structural uncertainty, to improve future cost-effective intermittent energy system design [52] [53] [13]. Hence, the goal of this thesis is to reduce that knowledge gap by providing such an approach.

#### 1.4 Research Questions and General Scope

Now that basic background information is provided, the thesis objectives and research questions are addressed. The purpose of this thesis is twofold. Firstly, this thesis creates a method addressing parametric and structural uncertainty to add new scientific value to the energy system modelling field. Secondly, this thesis aims to provide the company W+B with relevant and useful insights that can improve their case designs, as this thesis takes place in collaboration with W+B. These purposes are represented by the main research question:

How can intermittent energy system models provide reliable insights for optimized energy system designs by systematically including both structural and parametric uncertainties?

The main research question can be split up into several sub research questions that help answer the main research question.

1. Which variables are most relevant to model as uncertain in the ESM?

- 2. How can these uncertain variables be modelled in a reliable and accurate way to be used as inputs for the combined method?
- 3. Which methods are effective in addressing parametric and structural uncertainty in ESOM and which ones are most suitable for this thesis?
- 4. How can the most suitable methods be systematically combined into a single method?
- 5. Can applying the method to one or two intermittent and renewable case studies (im)prove its effectiveness and does it improve energy system design?
- 6. What kind of useful insights can this method provide when applied to one or two W+B cases regarding effective energy system design?
- 7. How can the method be made easily accessible for other future energy system design projects?

#### 1.4.1 Motivation of the Research Questions

For any parametric uncertainty approach to work well, the representation of the uncertain variables must be adequate for the model to produce good results (2). Furthermore, only the most relevant uncertain variables for the case study must be established (1). Expertise and accurate methods must be formulated and used to create trustworthy variables that represent the plausible future (3). Both types of uncertainty are to be applied at once to provide a new scientific approach (4).

The method will be applied to two case studies to test its performance. One of these case studies is based on a currently ongoing project of the company W+B. Both case studies are related to sustainable energy system design and take place on a relatively small scale (non-national) (5). An underlying goal of this thesis objective is to provide W+B with useful design guidelines and insights for of their case projects (6). The method can be compared to a basic design approach to determine if it provides useful insights.

Since energy system design methods can still be improved by including uncertainty more thoroughly in the design process, it is desired to make the method (when proven useful) accessible and applicable for other similar projects as well (7) [54].

The general scope of this thesis is not focused on the optimization of existing energy systems but on future systems that still have to be designed, as these methods are designed for it and since W+B wants to apply it for their future design cases. It aims to combine parametric and systematic uncertainty in an atomised manner and will be applied to two case studies to test and validate its effectiveness. After the thesis background is provided at the end of chapter 2, the complete thesis scope will be defined in more detail.

#### **1.5 Thesis Structure**

In the method chapter 2, the fundamentals of optimization and several available ESM methods and frameworks with their benefits and disadvantages are researched. Subsequently, uncertain variables and their role within ESMs are discussed. The scope of this thesis is found at the end of chapter 2. In chapter 3, the method that is be applied for this thesis is elaborated, followed by the case studies. The results come forward in chapter 4 and the discussion, future research, and recommendations in chapter 5. In chapter 6, conclusions of this work are drawn.

# 2 Theoretical Background

This chapter provides details on the available methods to complement the thesis objectives and to elaborate on how the chosen methods are applied. Therefore, this chapter covers the remainder of the literature research. First off, the optimization methodology and possible applications are discussed in section 2.1, followed by methods that can address structural and parametric uncertainty within energy system models in sections 2.2 and 2.3. Subsequently, available optimization frameworks are discussed in section 2.4, followed by how uncertain variables can be portrayed in ESM, and on what choices the selection of them should depend on in section 2.5.

#### 2.1 Optimization

There are many ways to apply optimization in ESM. In this section, the general methodology of optimization is explained by elaborating on a simple dispatch optimization problem. Afterwards, relevant types of optimization found in literature are highlighted.

#### 2.1.1 Optimization Methodology with Example

Energy system optimization models are applied for this thesis due to its widely accepted effectiveness in providing insights in ESM [55]. Optimization itself comes in many forms, but linear optimization is used as an explanatory case in this section to understand how it operates. As briefly touched upon in chapter 1.2, the goal of optimization is to either minimise or maximise an objective function by changing the values of the decision variables that are subject to constraints. Any optimization problem therefore consists of 3 components:

- 1. Objective function: The problem function, subject to the decision variables'values (2.1).
- 2. Decision variables  $x_n$ : The variables that need to be optimised for the optimal solution.
- 3. Constraints: The restrictions to which the decision variables are subject to (equation 2.2).

In the context of ESOMs, these objective functions can be minimising cost, minimising CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, minimising energy usage, or maximising profits. Basically, any objective that can test an energy system for it's effectiveness [56]. The decision variables are resources that contribute to this objective function. These decision variables are limited by constraints, meaning that they cannot just take any value because of physical or technical properties. These constraints can be maxima, minima or binding (equal to). Within LO, any objective function  $f(x_n)$  is subject to only linear relations  $c_n$ , and linear decision variables  $x_n$ , meaning that all decision variables have the power of one (see equation 2.1).

Objective function: Minimize 
$$f(\mathbf{x}_n) = \mathbf{c}_1 * \mathbf{x}_1 + \mathbf{c}_2 * \mathbf{x}_2 + \cdots + \mathbf{c}_n * \mathbf{x}_n$$
 (2.1)

S. t. constraints: 
$$a_{11} * x_1 + a_{12} * x_2 + \dots + a_{1n} * x_n \le b_1$$
  
 $a_{21} * x_1 + a_{22} * x_2 + \dots + a_{2n} * x_n \le b_2$   
 $\vdots$   
 $a_{m1} * x_1 + a_{m2} * x_2 + \dots + a_{mn} * x_n \le b_m$ 
(2.2)

Where  $c_n$  represents the relation between the objective function value per unit of decision variable  $x_n$  and where  $a_{mn}$  is the variable that represents the relation between the constraint and decision variable.

When the objective function, all relevant constraints and the decision variables are defined, the optimization problem can be solved. This can be done analytically or by using a solver. When using a solver, it iterates over different configurations of decision variables until an optimal solution is found. For non-linear optimization, the solvers are required to be strategically efficient to select the global optimum from multiple local optima [57] [58] [59] [56]. In the next section, different approaches to find the global optimum are addressed, and in section 2.4, different applicable solvers and their advantages are discussed.

When applying LO to a basic energy system problem example, an objective function can be to minimise the total cost function  $C(c_n, x_n)$  [\$] of operational capacities  $x_1$  and  $x_2$  [MW] of two energy plants. Each plant has different marginal operating costs of  $c_1$ =30 [\$/MW] and  $c_2$ =40 [\$/MW] and each plant has a maximum operation capacity  $b_1$ =50 [MW] and  $b_2$ =70 [MW]. The total operational capacity of both plants must meet a total demand of  $b_3$ =100 [MW]. For this example, the LO problem is visualised in figure 2.1, and works by using equation 2.3:



Figure 2.1: The constraint lines of a simple optimization problem.

Objective function: Minimise 
$$C(c_n, x_n) = 30 * x_1 + 40 * x_2$$
  
S. t. constraints:  $1 * x_1 \le 50$   
 $1 * x_2 \le 70$   
 $x_1 + x_2 = 100$  (2.3)  
Optimal Solution:  $x_1 = 50$   
 $x_2 = 50$   
Total cost  $= 30 * 50 + 40 * 50 = 3500$ \$

For most optimization problems, the optimal solution is directly determined by some of the constraints. Those constraints are called "active" constraints. In the example, the optimal solution is determined by 2 active constraints. These 2 active constraints are the maximum operational capacity of energy plant 1 ( $b_1$ ) and the demand constraint. When either one of these constraints is changed by 1 unit, the optimal solution will also change. For the maximum operational capacity of plant 2 ( $b_2$ ), changing its value by 1 unit will not change the optimal solution. Therefore, it is a non-active constraint for this particular system.

#### 2.1.2 Optimization Types

Linear optimization or linear programming (LP) is not the only optimization type that is being used within ESM. There are also optimization problems with non-linear constraints and objective functions (NLP). This is often the case for more complex models, where relations cannot be represented in a linear manner. This results in more than one extreme value and thus multiple local optimal solutions. Problems with more than one local optimum are called non-convex. Within optimization problems, decision variables can also be limited to discrete values. These decision variables can only take on integer values in this context. These optimization problems are called (Mixed) Integer (non) Linear Programming ((M)I(N)LP). Mixed programming occurs when the decision variables can take either integer or continuous values. An overview of the optimization problem classes, as defined by [2] can be seen in figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2: Optimization problem classes. Source: Lin et al [2].

Several literature reviews have been conducted on how optimization is applied to ESM [10] [11] [12] [2]. In these reviews, different classifications have been used to differentiate between the different methods. The most relevant and notable optimization methods are highlighted in table 2.1.

Uncertain optimization is most relevant for this thesis. The selected parametric uncertain optimization technique (MCS/MCA) as well as the selected structural uncertainty technique (SPOREs), are explained more intensively below in section 2.2 and 2.3. A more elaborate explanation of the other optimization techniques that can address uncertainty can be found in Appendix B. Other techniques that are less relevant for this thesis and not used, are shortly addressed below (table 2.1). Table 2.1: Optimization types in literature [10] [11] [12] [2] [13].

Optimization type				
Optimiz - - -	<ul> <li>Optimization problem types:</li> <li>Linear Programming (LO/LP)</li> <li>Non-linear Programming (NLP)</li> <li>(Mixed) Integer (non) Linear Programming ((M)I(N)LP)</li> </ul>			
Uncerta	ain Optimization:			
-	Stochastic Optimization (SP/SO)			
-	Multi-Stage Optimization (MSO)			
-	- Robust Optimization (RO)			
-	- Monte Carlo Simulation (MCS)			
-	Chance-Constraint Method (CCP)			
-	Risk Averse Optimization (RVA)			
Artifici	al Intelligence Optimization:			
-	Genetic Algorithm (GA)			
-	Particle Swarm (PS)			
-	Simulated Annealing (SA)			
-	Artificial Neural Network (ANN)			
-	Ant Colony Optimization (ACO)			
Other:	Other:			
-	Dynamic Programming (DP)			
-	Multi Objective Optimization (MOO)			
-	Multi Agent Approach (MAA)			
-	Modeling to Generate Alternatives (MGA)			
-	Spatially Explicit Practically Optimal Alternatives (SPORES)			

The chance constraint method (CCM) returns a solution space that meets a desired probability confidence level for a certain objective [12]. The risk averse optimization technique (RVA) is one that is based on calculating the expected utility. It compares 2 random results by finding those results' scalar transformations and determines which one it prefers based on that utility function.

Several artificial intelligent (AI) optimization techniques have been developed. Genetic Algorithm (GA), Particle Swarm (PS) Optimization and Ant Colony Optimization (ACO) are all based on behaviour found in nature. Simulated Annealing (SA) and Artificial Neural Networks (ANN) are also based on AI. GA mimics genetic processes found in organisms like evolution and natural selection to find optimal solutions. PS finds the optimal solution by creating a population of possible solutions and moving them around in the solution space in a swarm like manner. ACO looks to find the optimal path through graphs, based on the how ants do. SA chooses, during each solution iteration, a random step and accepts it in case the solution value is better than during the previous iteration. ANN copies neuron behaviour by addressing data internally and externally.

A different way to analyse optimization problems is by solving it for multiple objectives instead of one. This is done in Multi Objective Optimization (MOO) where, for example, the objective function is solving for both costs and emissions [60]. Dynamic Programming (DP) optimises by assuming that the optimal solution for a problem is directly related to the sub solutions of smaller segments of that total problem. The Multi Agent Approach (MAA) combines multiple algorithms within a single framework to solve more efficiently than frameworks, based on a single algorithm [61].

#### 2.2 Addressing Parametric Uncertainty

In this section, the most relevant method (MCS) that addresses parametric uncertainty will be explained. Subsequently, the reasons why this method is chosen over others are elaborated. As mentioned in the previous section, further explanation about the methods that also have high potential in addressing parametric uncertainty but are not used for this thesis can be found in appendix B.

#### 2.2.1 Parametric Uncertainty: MCA/MCS

Monte Carlo Analysis/Simulation (MCA/MCS) is a structured way to address (exogenous) parametric uncertainty. It operates by taking several samples from probability distributions of uncertain model parameters (inputs, relations) and feeding it to the model, thereby creating many of different scenarios for which the model must find a solution. Since these scenarios are randomly sampled from the distributions of the uncertain variables, both convenient and unfavourable scenarios will be created. The resulting model outcomes can be translated into useful insights by using statistical techniques. A sufficiently high number of samples must be analysed (figure 2.3) to provide reliable results. This number does not mainly depend on the number of stochastic variables but relies heavily on the confidence of the representation of said variables. The ability to accurately represent the stochastic variables in a mathematical way is essential for this technique to work reliably.

One of the drawbacks of MCS is that the number of required samples to produce a reliable result sometimes exceeds reasonable computational demand/time [62]. Possible sub methods that can reduce the amount of runs while maintaining sufficient statistically significant results are latin hyper cube sampling (LHS) [63] and importance sampling (IS) [64]. Furthermore, MCS assumes that the future uncertainties can be defined correctly on this day (meaning that you can (almost) perfectly represent the future uncertainty in a known probability distribution). Insights that can result from MCS are the odds of obtaining a goal, a map on which decision variables are more robust/essential for all the tested scenarios, and the interactions between the model and the inputs/outputs [42]. Within the MCS method, several algorithms have been developed that each approach sampling in a different way, many with their benefits and disadvantages [65].



Figure 2.3: Random sampling from a planning cost distribution. Source: Gazijahani et al [3].

MCS can be easily implemented in frameworks in the form of input scenarios. Each sampled dataset from a probability distribution of an uncertain variable results in a scenario that the model can be tested against. It should be noted that for each extra variable that is chosen as uncertain, the number of simulations increases exponentially.

#### 2.2.2 Parametric Uncertainty Method Choice: MCS

Whereas MCS is easy to implement in a recurring method, the other candidates for parametric uncertainty (RO and SP, more information in appendix B) have less applicability. SP works by making decisions before an uncertainty takes place, which is during multiple moments of a given timeseries. This is computationally more demanding and harder to program. RO assumes only the expected worst-case scenarios for an energy system, resulting in only one solution that can address all those worst-case uncertainties. However, this is not economically or practically efficient, as this can lead to excessive over-sizing and usually over expensive solutions. In many case studies, the functionality to model for best-case scenarios is also a valuable insight. Providing just an oversized and over expensive result is, in the current day energy system market, not a competitive and contemporary driver. Therefore, using MCS is preferred, as it can address a wider extent of design problems [42] for energy systems.

However, MCS will be represented by a limited number of simple outcomes and probabilities for this thesis. This is chosen as the emphasis of this thesis lies more on the post processing and analysis of the results, and less about the quality of the inputs itself. If we take a large sample size for each uncertain variable, say 50 outcomes, instead of 3 (e.g., base, bad and good outcomes with an equal probability of 33%), then the results will be processed in the same way. However, it will take a lot longer to compute and create said results. Therefore, a simple representation of Monte Carlo scenarios is chosen to represent the uncertain variables for the case studies. How these scenarios will be modelled can be found in chapter 3 (method). Furthermore, MCS can more easily be run in tandem with the available structural uncertainty approaches [42].

#### 2.3 Addressing Structural Uncertainty

Structural uncertainty remains problematic for ESOM. Ordinary approaches to decrease it are exerting expert opinion onto the model design process and implementing more complex relations into the model behaviour to further approach its realistic representation. However, a different and more structured option is discussed further in this section as not all modellers have expert opinion about the relations and properties of the system itself. The near optimal solution space is a useful topic to address this matter [66] and is explained further below.

#### 2.3.1 Structural Uncertainty: MGA

Modelling to generate alternatives (MGA) was initially developed to address public planning problems in the early 80's [67]. It was noted that, next to the optimal solution, additional near optimal solutions can provide very interesting options that can address other problems than what the model solves for. For some energy systems, a 10% increase in cost can be justified and preferred if that extra cost solves for example a societal or political problem.

MGA operates by finding the optimal solution first, and then considers a slack value to add to the optimal result value to create new solutions. MGA assigns an integer weight to each nonzero decision variable from that optimal solution, which is then used in an iterated second optimization, returning a maximally different decision space. The calculation can be adjusted in case more than one near-optimal solution is preferred [52] [42]. The slack value for MGA is chosen subjectively. However, MGA cannot be applied on energy systems with a higher spatial resolution (several locations). MGA only considers the technologies themselves within systems. Therefore, MGA lacks the functionality if insight is required in the spatial distribution of the technologies.

#### 2.3.2 Structural Uncertainty: SPOREs

Where MGA lacks in spatial resolution, Spatially Explicit Practically Optimal Results (SPOREs) makes up for it. This method, developed by Lombardi et al [13], is a spatial resolution extension on the MGA method. Instead of distributing a weight to a certain technology, a weight is attributed to every technology + location combination in SPOREs. If you can have the same technology in multiple locations, several near-optimal solutions provide a different capacity distribution for those

locations [13]. Each near-optimal solution is referred to as a SPORE in the remainder of this report. Choosing the number of SPOREs when using the SPORE method is essential in providing a complete result data-set, and is highly dependent on the complexity of the chosen energy system. The slack cost value works similarly as in MGA. The algorithm itself is explained further below.

**SPOREs step 1:** Find the global optimum of the objective function for the ESM [13] (equation 2.4).

Minimize 
$$Cost = \sum_{j} \sum_{i} (C_{fix,ij} * x_{ij}^{cap} + \sum_{t} C_{var,ij} * x_{t,ij}^{prod})$$
  

$$S.t. : A * x \le b$$

$$x \ge 0$$
(2.4)

Where *j* is the *j*th location in the spatial domain, and *i* is the *i*th technology in the energy system.  $x_{ij}^{cap}$  is the installed capacity of one such technology *i* on location *j*.  $x_{t,ij}^{prod}$  is the power production of one *i*, *j* technology location combination.  $c_{fix,ij}$  and  $c_{var,ij}$  are the discounted financial fixed and variable costs. *A* and *b* represent the constraints to which the decision variables x are subject to in the energy system.

**SPOREs step 2:** A weight  $w_{ij}$  is designated to each technology location combination decision variable that has a nonzero result in the global optimum. This weight is assigned by taking the inverse of the (absolute) distance from the average for that decision variable in the previous iterations (n-1) through  $\overline{x_{ij}}$  (equation 2.5 and 2.6). The higher the weight is, the heavier it will be minimised in the next iteration. Meaning that if a technology capacity is close to the average of the previous solutions, it will be more heavily changed in the next iteration. This is the evolving average method [68] [69].

$$\mathbf{w}_{ij} = \left| \frac{\overline{\mathbf{x}_{ij}} - \mathbf{x}_{ij}}{\overline{\mathbf{x}_{ij}}} \right|^{-1} \tag{2.5}$$

$$\overline{\mathbf{x}_{ij}} = \frac{\sum_{ij=1}^{n-1} * \mathbf{x}_{ij}}{n-1}$$
(2.6)

**SPOREs step 3:** A near-optimal solution (SPORE) is now created by minimising the sum of all the weighted technology/location decision variables, while coercing the total objective value to the optimal value plus the added slack (equation 2.7). This is seen as  $\epsilon$  constrained MOO, in which cost can be regarded as a second objective, although it is not explicitly minimised.

Minimise 
$$Y = \sum_{j} \sum_{i} (w_{ij} * x_{ij}^{cap})$$
  
 $S.t. : \cos t_n \le (1 + slack) * \cos t_0$   
 $A * x \le b$   
 $x \ge 0$ 

$$(2.7)$$

Where n is the current SPORE number.

**SPOREs step 4:** This process is then repeated, meaning that (equation 2.5) is applied again to receive new weight values for the decision variables to create yet another near-optimal SPORE.

#### 2.3.3 Structural Uncertainty Method Choice: SPOREs

As each SPORE adds an additional dimension to the solution space, this technique is preferred over MGA. SPOREs can provide a bigger effect on a larger variety of energy systems that have spatial resolution in it, making the final method more universal when SPOREs is combined into it instead of MGA. SPOREs is also implemented in the well-known modelling framework Calliope, where it is continually being improved, making it more state of the art than MGA, which is still based on scoring methods from 1979.

#### 2.4 Method: ESM Frameworks

Several software frameworks have been developed and used to support ESM. Several literature reviews [11] [70] on these frameworks have been conducted, where over 45 different software tools have been analysed on their ability to analyse and calculate energy system insights [10] [27]. An online database with open source energy models is also available [71]. Popular examples are OS-eMOSYS, MARKAL/TIMES and the HOMER software, with each their own strengths and unique functionalities.

OSeMOSYS results are generally used for large scale policy expansion. It is based on perfect forecasts and is currently written in the programming languages Mathprog, GAMS and Python. OSe-MOSYS uses LP to find optimal solutions and has the possibility to interpret MILP. Electricity and heat are possible energy carriers and OSeMOSYS has been applied to case studies regarding the electricity sector for Africa and South America. Furthermore, OSeMOSYS is obtainable under a free Apache 2.0 License [72] [73].

MARKAL/TIMES also optimises through LP and is written in GAMS. It has been developed by the International Energy Agency (IEA). TIMES is an evolution of the MARKAL software, but both software's are very similar. MARKAL/TIMES are used all over the globe in more than 170 institutions [35] and even has a built-in SP function [42].

HOMER is a software developed by NREL, that has similar functionalities and is already used by some departments of W+B. It has a selectable temporal resolution of minutes up to hours and is intended to model systems of a local scale. HOMER does not include the option to model transmission, but does have an implemented sensitivity analysis functionality that can be used to find the sensitive technologies within an energy system. The objective function is economically motivated [70].

#### 2.4.1 Framework Choice: Calliope

The open energy modelling framework CALLIOPE is chosen as modelling environment for the application of the combined structural and parametric uncertainty approach. CALLIOPE is developed by Stefan Pfenninger and Bryn Pickering while they were active in the department of environmental systems science (ETH Zürich) and department of engineering (university of Cambridge). It is freely accessible for commercial and private applications, also through an Apache 2.0 license [74]. It is run through Python and is, as of today, the only framework that includes the SPOREs functionality [75]. It also has the "operate" functionality, which represents a more realistic dispatch strategy based on non-perfect foresight of the future.

#### 2.4.2 Calliope Operation Methodology

Operating under an Apache 2.0 license generally means that there is no big company responsible for customer support. Despite this, Calliope has an active community for debugging, issue solving and software development (updates). Calliope has been developed to be as user-friendly and logical as possible by using internal reliability and solidity within the code. Calliope's design is also intended to be able to handle energy systems with large fractions of variable renewable energy, different spatial (transmission etc.) and temporal (time-steps) resolutions. Additionally, a simplified approach to be able to run models on a high computing cluster has been implemented and to be accessible for many users, the chosen programming language is Python.

Two of the main developers of Calliope and SPOREs are in the employment of the TU Delft, making discussion and code development or tweaking easily possible [75]. Calliope allows both large-scale modelling and small-scale modelling, making it more accessible to be used for many other projects other than the case studies of this thesis. Other frameworks are commonly designed for one scale. Additionally, Calliope does not limit its models to just electricity and/or heat energy carriers, any energy carrier can be defined in Calliope. It is just up to the designer to model the conversion between multiple energy carriers correctly.

Other than the SPORE functionality, Calliope also has the "operate" mode. Operate mode runs a predefined decision variable solution set for a scenario, but with a more realistic foresight horizon. Perfect foresight over the complete time-series is assumed in the default plan mode, whereas in reality planners can only look in the nearby future for a reliable forecast. In operate mode, the model is run with the knowledge that forecasts are only investigated up to 24 or 48 hours in the future [76]. Which can result in long term effects like high temperature in winter being overseen.

Calliope defines a model through yaml files (text files), where all the technical components with their economic and technical aspects (cost/kW, efficiency, ramp up time, lifetime, interest rate etc.) can be defined. These technologies can be generation, conversion, storage, transmission, and demand. Next up, spatial resolution can be defined by creating locations with either coordinates or distances between each other. The designer can define which technologies are available at each location, and which connections between other locations are possible. Lastly, the designer can define the operation settings for the run through the text file. Then, the model can be run by optimising for the best net present value (NPV) of your chosen objective function. An in-depth explanation on how CALLIOPE works, can be found in the online documentation [77].

#### 2.4.3 Calliope Solver Choice

Within CALLIOPE, the optimization solver that is being used, depends on the user. Nonetheless, Calliope has the built-in functionality to switch and use several solvers like the free GLPK, CBC, as well as the commercial GUROBI and CPLEX solvers. Since GUROBI is one of the fastest free solvers available for Calliope (figure 2.4 [4]), and since being affiliated with the TU Delft provides students with a free academic GUROBI license, the choice to use GUROBI for this thesis is made.

Solver	Solution time	
Solver	National	Urban
GLPK	4:35:40	>5hrs
CBC	0:04:45	0:52:13
Gurobi (1 thread)	0:02:08	0:03:21
CPLEX (1 thread)	0:04:55	0:05:56
Gurobi (4 thread)	0:02:27	0:03:08
CPLEX (4 thread)	0:02:16	0:03:26

Figure 2.4: Solution times for different solvers within Calliope, applied to the national and urban example models. Source: Calliope documentation [4]).

#### 2.5 Uncertainty in ESM

Almost every aspect of an energy system can be modelled as uncertain. But not all variables should be chosen as uncertain since over-complexity reduces the reliability, and increases the computational time of the model. In practice, most model inputs will even be taken as deterministic. This section explains what variables can be taken as uncertain in EMSs, how one can choose which are most important to model as uncertain and elaborate on ways to model them as uncertain.

#### 2.5.1 Choice of Uncertain Variables

The variables that should be taken as uncertain are the inputs that are most likely to change during the operation of the chosen energy system. The variables that fit this description are subject to the energy system that is chosen and are not by definition, always eligible for every single energy system. Some variables fluctuate during the time-span of an energy model, many of which have been modelled as uncertain before [45] [78] [26].

Table 2.2: Overview of commonly modelled variables for uncertain and deterministic operation in ESM.

Variables commonly modeled as uncertain	Variables commonly modeled as deterministic
<ul> <li>Solar yield (Temperature, Cloudiness, Wind speed)</li> <li>Wind yield (Wind speed, Wind direction)</li> <li>Demand yield (Heat, Cooling, Electrical)</li> <li>Hourly electricity price</li> <li>Fuel prices</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Technical aspects of a component (Efficiency, costs per km, storage self-discharge)</li> <li>CAPEX of technical components</li> </ul>

Although almost any variable is uncertain, some variables are usually modelled in a deterministic way as they do not fluctuate a lot during the time-span of an ESM or since they simply don't supplement to the focus of the energy system when taken as uncertain (see table 2.2).

Although many of these aspects will realistically differ from their expected values, setting them as constant values increases the workability of the model. When making every aspect of the model uncertain, the spread and total uncertainty is also reflected in the results. Over-complexity can then make the calculation insanely long and the results useless, since nothing can be said with absolute certainty. This means that if the uncertainty range is too high, there is no point in modelling at all.

#### 2.5.2 Techniques to Characterise Uncertain Variables

Many approaches are available and have been used to characterise uncertain wind and solar yield [26] [12] [79] [10]. Wind can be modelled by taking Monte Carlo samples from a Weibull distribution, whose parameters can be deducted from historic data [80]. Alternatively, wind can be modelled using the ARMA technique. The ARMA technique uses annual historic wind data-sets to create new yearly data-sets that have similar statistical properties as the provided historic data-sets. Multiple data-sets can be created through this ARMA technique [81] [82]. This could also be applied for demand time-series, but demand has more specific peak correlations around holidays. The TPLF method is a promising method to represent the uncertain aspects of solar data, also based on historic data-sets [83].

Since this thesis is not in essence about the quality of the inputs, it is chosen to model the uncertain variables in a relatively simple manner by basing them on historic data sets (see chapter 3). The goal of this thesis is to show what the method can do with inputs, provided they are correct. Several historic data sources are mentioned in the next section.

#### 2.5.3 Historic Data Sources (Databases)

Reliable data sources should be considered to create data-sets for uncertain variables like solar power, wind power, cooling, heating and electricity demand. Some possible options are mentioned below:

- 1. The PVgis database, hourly data for potential photo voltaic (PV) panel data [84].
- 2. The NEDU organisation provides annual synthetic data-sets for energy usage in the Netherlands for gas/heat and electricity [85].
- 3. Smart meter data from Liander (Network operator in the Netherlands) [86].
- 4. The Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute (KNMI), for Dutch weather data [87].
- 5. Renwables.ninja, an online tool that integrated weather data from NASA MERRA and CM-SAF' SARAH to provide pv and wind data-sets for every location on the world [5].

For this thesis, renewables.ninja [5] is used to extract solar PV data and temperature, which can be used to create the time-series for PV production, cooling and heating demand. NEDU's synthetic data-sets [85] are used to create the electrical, heating, and cooling demand for the cases. Many more sources are available, but for the application of the case studies the above mentioned sources are sufficient to find reliable historic data for case studies in the Netherlands.

#### 2.6 Thesis Scope

#### 2.6.1 General Scope

This thesis is not focused on the optimization of existing energy systems, but on future systems that still have to be designed. It aims to combine parametric and structural uncertainty, by combining the MCS and SPOREs approach respectively (see section 2.2 and section 2.3) within the Calliope framework (section 2.4), which has not yet been done before and is recommended as future research for the SPOREs approach (the inclusion of parametric uncertainty within SPOREs) [13]. The solver used in Calliope is GUROBI since it is the fastest and free under an academic license (section 2.4). The method is applied to two case studies, a simple case 1 (test case) and case 2, to test and validate its effectiveness. The scale application in this thesis is at uttermost on district level for both case studies, despite its proven effectiveness for national scale energy systems [13]. Applying SPOREs at district level is also be novel, as it has been used before only on national levels.

#### 2.6.2 Stochastic Variables

Bearing in mind feasibility and limited computational complexity, only 2 and 3 variables are considered as uncertain for case 1 and case 2 respectively. These variables are represented by modifying historical data. For demand, it is within the scope to model actors that deviate from the average usage profile, but (as decided in a progress meeting) modelling per minute instead of per hour is not within the scope of this research since it increases the computational requirements exponentially and does not change the processing steps. This does mean however that some of the optimised capacities might not be high enough to cope with realistic peak moments. This problem can easily be tackled by including additional constraints.

#### 2.6.3 System Modelling

It is within the scope of this thesis to model the physical models in a way that the components are represented reasonably.

- 1. *Timeseries:* The model's temporal space is hourly, and the runs last for a year.
- 2. *Integer or continuous programming:* Discrete decision variables are not be used in this model as continuous variables decrease solution time.
- 3. *Cyclic storage:* The state of charge (SOC) of the storage components at the start of the model runs are set equal to the final SOC of the model run.
- 4. *Efficiency:* Degradation or fluctuation of efficiency is not considered, and efficiency is constant and equal to the average one from product specification or current day values.
- 5. *Ramp up time:* Ramping of components is only modelled if they are known and significantly relevant compared to the hourly based time-series that are used.
- 6. *Curtailment:* PV panel production is not curtailed.
- 7. *CO*<sub>2</sub> *emissions:* Any component with known operational CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, is programmed to include its carbon footprint in the model in a realistic manner. The CO<sub>2</sub> emissions emitted during component production are included in the model as well if a reliable source is available.

#### 2.6.4 Outside Scope

This thesis does not include in-depth research on how to model the uncertain variables correctly. The validity of those stochastic variable representations is gazed upon briefly (in section 2.5) to provide sufficient data quality. The value of this thesis lies within the method, and not in the representation of the uncertain variables. Predicting the future is therefore not central in this thesis but having a proper way to interpret that/any future, no matter what shape it takes, is. Global Sensitivity Analysis is also out of scope.

## 3 Method

Each step of the method is explained and visualised in depth in order to help understand its workflow in this chapter. Subsequently, both case studies to which this method will be applied, are explained in section 3.2 and 3.3. Case 1 is mainly used as an exploratory case to see if the method is applicable and works for these types of energy systems. Therefore, due to the similarity between the case 1 and case 2 results, case 1 is only explained briefly in this and the next chapter. An in-depth explanation of case 1 and its results can be found in appendix A.

#### 3.1 Computational Workflow

In essence, the computational workflow has 7 parts (figure 3.1). It starts with the *Inputs*, where the components of the energy system model are defined and where the uncertain variables are chosen. Subsequently, the first optimization calculates all the possible solution ranges that the components can have, also called the *configurations solution space*, by choosing the amount of SPOREs and an allowed cost slack value in the *Optimization Strategy*. In this solution space, only component ranges that work very well for the energy system under the chosen uncertain variables are created. However, this *Configurations Solution Space* is still a very large set of component ranges that must be filtered into configurations that are most promising and interesting for the chosen energy model. This filter is applied in the *Configuration Selection*. The result of this filter is a small set of *Testable Configurations*. In the *Evaluation*, each of those configurations is tested versus all the input scenarios on a set of chosen performance indicators, like cost and security of supply. The results of that second optimization are found in the *Results*. These results are in the form of performance scores, statistical figures, and statistical statements. For the remainder of this chapter, each method step is explained in detail, followed by an encapsulated overview.

#### 3.1.1 Inputs

Firstly, the inputs and the energy system model itself are defined. The relevant uncertain variables are chosen, and their data-sets collected. The parametric uncertainty is addressed by choosing several outcomes that the chosen uncertain variable can take on, and by giving each of those outcomes a probability of occurrence as is also done in MCS. In figure 3.2 and figure 3.3, an annual time-series of two possible uncertain variables "solar yield" and "temperature" are visualised. Multiple data-sets should be used with each a certain probability of occurrence for each uncertain variable.

All the possible technologies and, if applicable, all the spatial locations of the chosen energy system must be defined in Calliope through the yaml files [77]. A simple duplex house energy system is used to explain all the steps of this method. The spatial configuration of this simple duplex house energy system is displayed in figure 3.4. In this example energy system there are 3 locations, interconnected by electricity cables and with solar panels, batteries, grid connection and electrical demand as possible technologies. Any physical or other capacity constraints like the maximum square meters available for solar panels, are defined in the yaml files as well.



Figure 3.1: A simplified version of the methods' workflow.



Figure 3.2: Annual solar yield as an uncertain variable. The graph shows the average Solar yield in [kW/hour/m2] of installed PV panels, in The Netherlands in 2019 [5]. This time-series represents south faced panels, under an inclination of 35°.



Figure 3.3: Annual temperature as an uncertain variable. The graph shows the average temperature [C°] per hour, in The Netherlands in 2019 [5]. This time-series represents temperature at a height of 2 m.

For this thesis, all the data-sets for uncertain variables that are related to historic weather conditions are based on measured weather conditions in a central point in the Netherlands (De Bilt), taken from the data sources mentioned in section 2.5. Other uncertain variables are based on averages in the Netherlands. This means that the random selection that usually happens in MCS, is not detained. However, the resulting data-sets still represent a realistic and similar data-set compared to a randomly sampled MCS, and it improves the calculation time immensely. The data-set format that Calliope uses is the "ISO 15927-4:2005" standard. This is a standard that reads data for time-series in the form of 'yyyy-mm-dd hh:mm:ss' [88].

#### 3.1.2 Optimization Strategy

With the energy system model and uncertain variables defined, the simulation options can be chosen. Options like the number of SPOREs (number of near optimal solutions), its slack value [%], and for what time-span the scenarios are run (time range and the time-step size) are defined. Additionally, the solver choice, (multi) objective function and cyclic storage are also prescribed.

For the Optimization Strategy phase, additional simulations are conducted to improve the methods' effectiveness. Two simulation options are varied since it is expected that they are most influential on the effectiveness of the workflow/method:



Figure 3.4: The spatial configuration of a simple energy system for a duplex house. All locations have different possible technologies and can be connected by electricity cables with different distances. In locations 1 and 2, electrical demand, the grid connection and batteries are possible technology options. In location 3, there is room for solar panels to be installed [6]

- *Cost slack for SPORE options:* How does using a low slack (15%) or a high slack (50%) value affect the results and the way to process them?
- *The number of SPOREs:* The more complex a system is (more technology/location combinations), the more SPOREs are desired if all possible options are to be considered. However, how does changing the number of SPOREs created between a high number (50) and a low number (15), change the reliability/resolution of the stage 1 results for the main case?

Both additional simulations are tested on case 2 to improve the simulation options decision making process for the method in future cases. The results can be found in chapter 4.4.

#### 3.1.3 Configurations Solution Space

After the optimization strategy simulations, Calliope will return several solutions, equal to the amount of Monte Carlo scenarios (input scenarios) multiplied by the number of SPOREs + 1 (equation 3.1). All of these (near) optimal solutions for all the given input scenarios combined, are called the configurations solution space.

$$\#of solutions = \#MCS * (SPOREs + 1)$$
(3.1)

One single solution is either the cost optimal (SPORE 0) or a near cost optimal result (SPORE) for the energy system, for one of the input scenarios. This contains the technology capacities per location for all the components (four examples of single solutions can be found in figures 3.5, 3.6, 3.7 and 3.8), as well as the best way to use those capacities through real time behaviour (dispatch) of the system through time-series data (see figure 3.9).

Although a single solution already provides a lot of information about how a solution can behave for a specific input scenario, it does not yet provide a decision-making design strategy for the energy


Figure 3.5: Solution 1 (optimal solution, SPORE 0) for one input scenario. The optimal and cheapest solution only uses two electricity cables (loc1-loc3 and loc2-loc3). The max PV amount is installed and both locations have 50 kWh of battery installed.



Figure 3.7: Solution 3 (SPORE 2) for one input scenario. With the same cost, the second SPORE results in a configuration with fewer electricity cables, fewer PV panels, and a spread-out battery capacity. This configuration depends more on grid electricity.



Figure 3.6: Solution 2 (SPORE 1) for one input scenario. With an increased cost equal to the optimal cost plus the slack, the result is different than the optimal one. In SPORE 1, a different electrical cable is used, while less PV and battery is installed.



Figure 3.8: Solution 4 (SPORE 3) for one input scenario. With the same increased cost, the third SPORE results in a configuration with a lot of electricity cables, an increased grid connection, an average amount of PV panels, but no batteries.



Figure 3.9: The time-series in [kW] for electricity and electrical storage of a single solution.

system that is robust against all the input scenarios. The whole configuration solution space (all the single solutions, for all the input scenarios) must be used in a way to detect what (type of) solution works best for all the possible input scenarios. One convenient way to obtain that, is by visualising the complete configuration solution space in capacity box-plots (see figure 3.10).

Several statements can already be made about the energy system, when comparing the full configuration solution space in box-plots:



Figure 3.10: The technology capacity solutions for SPORE 0, 1, 2 and 3, for one input scenario, visualised in a box-plot. Battery loc1 has a larger spread than the electricity lines between 2 and 3.

- Certain relations within the model can then be defined:
  - The installed electrical demand capacity is directly connected to the input scenario. If an
    input scenario has high electrical demand, then the installed electrical demand will be
    equal to the max electrical demand.
  - The total cable capacity that is connected to location 3 (PV location) must be able to cope with the maximum PV yield.
- Certain technologies can then be identified as (non-) Essential:
  - The electricity cable between location 2 and 3 is never equal to 0, making it essential for all the input scenarios.
  - Both location 1 and 2 always need a grid connection.
- Identify the **certainty range** of technologies, a larger data spread means a more sensitive technology (-location combination):
  - The installed battery capacity has a very large spread, meaning that the battery technology is sensitive to the inputs.

Despite providing useful knowledge, it does not tell designers yet which configurations are most interesting to test against all the input scenarios. Therefore, a reliable and systematic configuration selection method is desired.

#### 3.1.4 Configuration Selection

To obtain the best design configurations, two approaches are applied in this thesis. The first approach chooses design configurations by simply selecting specific single solutions from the configurations solutions space based on extreme values like the maximum or minimum installed capacity of a particular technology(-location) combination. This way, a configuration can be selected because it had the highest battery capacity from the complete configurations solutions space, or because it was simply the cheapest option. This approach is very subjective and ignores many repetitive technology correlations among all solutions and will likely result in unnecessarily low performance scores in the final results as many of these solutions are created through SPOREs (which promotes diverse solutions). Therefore, a second "advanced configuration selection" is also designed to use a more structured procedure. The subjective "cumbersome" selection procedure is used for case 1. While the advanced configuration selection approach is tested and applied in case 2.



Figure 3.11: Workflow of the advanced configuration selection.

The improved configuration selection method tries to automatically utilise repetitive correlations between technologies by filtering a set of solutions and using those correlations to create configurations to test to obtain the final results. If a "top 10% capacity for technology A" filter is applied, and if all those filtered solutions also show a high capacity in technology B, then a repetitive correlation is found and utilised (see figure 4.22). The "improved configuration selection" algorithm is implemented (figure 3.11) to automise this process for all correlations and technologies. For each technology/location capacity combination, a "top 10%", "bottom 10%", or "average 10%" capacity filter is applied to the complete configuration solution space. Subsequently, an additional dependency check is conducted to make sure that these correlations are not too dependent on particular input scenarios instead of the technologies themselves. This check inspects from which input scenario each result from the currently used 10% filter is, and checks if they have a large enough diversity. This is done by counting the amount of times each input scenario is used for the filtered results, and dividing (normalizing) that count by the total number of solutions in the 10% filter. If more than 25% of the filtered results is dependent on a single input scenario, any correlation found can not be devoted to the energy system and the technologies, making it unhelpful to analyse that configuration further. If the dependency check shows that the filtered results are less than 25% dependent on a single input scenario, then the results of that current filter are used to create a testable configuration. This testable configuration is created by taking the median of the filtered values of each technology/location combination.

#### 3.1.5 Testable Configurations

1 testable configuration is created per applied filter for each technology/location combination thanks to the advanced configuration selection method. These testable configurations are all based on the correlations of all SPOREs and optimal solutions (the complete configuration solution space). Depending on how complex the energy system is, the number of testable configurations can be high. The resulting testable configurations are now be tested against all the possible input scenarios for certain performance scores.

#### 3.1.6 Evaluation

Calliope is once again used to test the performance of each selected configuration against all the possible input scenarios. Calliope has two ways to test an energy system with predefined capacities for different input scenarios: plan mode and operate mode. Plan mode is used for this thesis. Subsequently, Calliope uses the configurations from the testable configurations step as additional input for each scenario. This means that each configuration is run for every input scenario. The resulting outcomes are then used to score each configuration on certain performance indicators, used for the final results.

Many criteria can be used to determine which configuration is the best one. Indicators can be cost [EU NPV], security of supply (SOS) [%], CO<sub>2</sub> emitted [kg NPV], grid dependency [%], capacity factors [%], LCOE [EU NPV], unmet demand [kWh], self-dependency [%], redundancy [-], and

many more. Just 3 scoring indicators are used for case 1, whereas just 4 of these are chosen as scoring indicators for case 2. CO2 emissions, cost, SOS and grid dependency are chosen for case 2. Each result is scored on these performance indicators and visualised by histograms, tables, time-series and other plots (see next section) after Calliope's plan optimization.

All the unmet demand (heating, cooling and electrical) of the total time-series is calculated and divided by the total demand (equation 3.2) to calculate the security of supply (SOS). For the total cost, the net present values (NPV) for all technology and operation costs are calculated and summed (equation 3.3). For the total  $CO_2$  emissions, a similar calculation is applied to the time-series (equation 3.4). To obtain the grid dependency, the total electricity, extracted from the grid, is divided by the total amount of energy consumed by all the demand (equation 3.5)

Security of Supply (SOS)[%] = 
$$\frac{(1 - \text{Unmet demand [kWh]]})}{\text{Total demand [kWh]}}$$
 (3.2)

Total Cost [Euro, NPV] = 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{tech:loc} CAPEX_i + OPEX_i(t)$$
 (3.3)

Total CO<sub>2</sub> [kg, NPV] = 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{tech:loc} CAPEX_i + OPEX_i(t)$$
 (3.4)

Grid Dependency [%] = 
$$\frac{\text{Electricity from grid [kWh]}}{\text{Total consumed demand [kWh]}}$$
 (3.5)

with i = each technology/location combination

#### 3.1.7 Results

For each selected configuration and input scenario combination, the entire time-series of optimal dispatch is conducted (figure 3.12) by Calliope. The scoring parameters are generated as explained in equations 3.2, 3.3, 3.4 and 3.5 from these results.



Figure 3.12: A result time-series for electricity [kW], for a selected configuration and one of the input scenarios. Despite always using the maximum grid capacity, in February, there is still unmet demand thanks to the lower solar yield. This unmet demand is used to calculate the Security of Supply.

These performance indicators are calculated for each configuration for each scenario. Subsequently, a histogram is generated by multiplying each score with its probability of occurrence (figure 3.13) to visualise all these performance scores simultaneously for one configuration versus all input scenarios. A ridge plot is used, to visualise all possible configurations for one performance indicator, against all the input scenarios. All these histograms are visualised simultaneously in a ridge plot (figure 3.14).

The obtained data is used to calculate statistical data like the mean values and standard deviations. An overview of all the performance indicator scores, for all the configurations, against all the input scenarios, is also made clear in a table. The mean of a set of data-points is obtained by (equation 3.6).



Figure 3.13: An example of a total cost. In the histogram plot, all results in between two bin limits will be summed to obtain the total count for that bin. The total amount of input scenarios is equal to the total count. Source: Delle Monache et al [7].



Figure 3.14: An example of a ridge plot. For each testable configuration (in this plot represented by "ideal", "premium", "very good", "good" and "fair"), the histogram for one performance indicator can be plotted in a ridge plot. Source: Holtz et al [8].

The standard deviation is found by taking the square root of the variance, defined as in (equation 3.7) [89].

Mean 
$$\overline{x} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i}{n}$$
 (3.6)

Standard Deviation 
$$std = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (\mathbf{x}_i - \overline{x})^2}{n-1}}$$
 (3.7)

Where *n* is the total number of data-points, and *i* is the *i*th data-point. If the input data represents the parametric uncertainty in a realistic manner, these results are used for the design strategy of the energy system. When considering the possible configurations from the advanced configuration selection, one can now state which configuration has the highest robustness regarding SOS, grid dependency,  $CO_2$  emissions or cost. With these results, one can state that the probability for a chosen configuration to meet a certain budget is equal to XX% within the given input scenarios.

The results can also be visualised by plotting two performance indicators against each other. Amongst energy system designers, it is often interesting to find the cost of unmet demand. This is obtained by showing both the total cost results and the security of supply in a single plot (figure 3.15).



Figure 3.15: The performance of all chosen configurations against security of supply and cost. Each blue dot represents a testable configuration. Source: Seed Energy [9].

#### 3.1.8 Recap Workflow

The complete workflow is now filled with useful settings (figure 3.16).



Figure 3.16: The filled workflow.

#### 3.2 Case 1

As mentioned in the introduction of this chapter, case 1 (test case) is a relatively simple energy system. It is designed to discover Calliope's capability to execute of the workflow described in section 3.1. However, since case 1 does not provide extensive meaningful additional results, compared to the case 2 results, its background and results are discussed only briefly here and in chapter 4. Case 1 is designed to address the following features of ESM:

- Transmission losses
- Battery losses (round-trip and self-discharge)
- The impact of high and low demand on different locations
- Choosing between two PV types with different efficiencies, when installed in two possible inclinations.
- The impact of different demand profiles
- The impact of different solar profiles.

The energy system consists of two clusters of 3 households (figure 3.17). The first cluster of 3 households on location X1 has a combined roof surface of 60  $m^2$ , with an inclination of 50° pointed towards the south. The other cluster of 3 households on location X2, has a combined roof surface of 100  $m^2$ , but its inclination is 0°(flat roof). The only grid connection of the system is located on location X3. The electricity can flow to, and from these 3 locations through electricity cables that have certain losses per kilometre. On each household cluster, two types of PV panels (type 1: low efficiency & cheap, type 2: high efficiency & expensive) and batteries can be installed. Regarding electricity demand, the households on location X2 are modelled as above average electricity users (1.1\* national average), while the houses on location X1 are modelled as average electricity users (national average).



Figure 3.17: The spatial configuration of case 1. 3 locations are connected through electricity cables.

The two chosen uncertain variables for case 1 are solar yield and electrical demand. Uncertain solar yield is realised by taking 15 years of historical solar data (2005-2019) from [renewables.ninja] for a location in the Netherlands. For the electrical demand, the average annual electrical consumption is multiplied by fractional hourly electrical consumption profiles. More information can be found in appendix A. The most important chosen simulation settings are a 15% cost slack, 5 SPOREs and the cumbersome configuration selection method.

# 3.3 Case 2

Case 2 is based on a project [90], that is similar to a currently ongoing project within W+B. Many assumptions are made, based on current day values and reasonable estimates. These assumptions and their sources can be found in appendix C.

#### 3.3.1 Energy System Configuration

The energy system for case 2 consists of 100 households with electrical, heating, and cooling demand profiles. To meet these demand profiles, multiple energy carriers are introduced to the energy system, namely electricity, heating water, cooling water, and hydrogen.



Figure 3.18: Energy system spatial configuration case 2.

As visualised in figure 3.18, there is a grid connection available for this energy hub (system) and there is a connection available for all the installed solar panels. The electricity can flow between the grid connection, solar panels, battery, electrolyzer, fuel cell and electrical demand. The electrical demand, heat pump and electrolyzer can only consume electricity, while the fuel cell and solar panels can only create electricity. The grid and battery can both consume and create electricity. Hydrogen is created by the electrolyzer and flows towards the hydrogen storage, where it can either be stored or sent to either the hydrogen boiler (for heat production) or to the fuel cell (for electricity

production). In order to meet the cooling demand, only the heat pump can be used by converting electricity to cooling water with a coefficient of performance (COP) of 9. The heating water can be extracted from the electrolyzer waste heat, fuel cell waste heat and the hydrogen boiler. There is hot and cold water storage available for both the heating and cooling demand. The electrical, heating and cooling demand represent the needs of a 100 households. Most connections are unidirectional and some are bidirectional, depicted by the arrow type used in the figure. Assumptions and explanations about all technical aspects of these components, can be found in appendix C.

It must be noted that the heating system is simplified in this version of the energy system since all energy carriers are connected to each other directly through its energy value [kWh]. For heating and cooling, a fixed temperature difference is used to connect the conversion rates. A more realistic but complex version of this energy system is therefore recommended in the future research. In this complex version, the heating and cooling quality should be considered as well.

Since each individual non-transmission technology is only allowed at a single location, the technology/location combinations have no additional functionality for this energy system. Furthermore, since the case 2 energy system is small scaled, the cost contribution for the transmission technologies is very low compared to the other technologies. Meaning that a change in transmission capacity between locations, while having a large effect, is not expensive. A variable transmission technology would often not be considered on this small scale in practice, but depicted by standard oversized regulations. For that reason, the energy system for case 2 is modelled without transmission technologies to increase the focus on the technology distributions. This choice greatly reduces the computational time and complexity, while barely affecting the objective function (cost) and its results.

#### 3.3.2 Modelling Assumptions and Choices

For the main thesis case study (case 2), 3 variables are taken as uncertain: "Solar Yield", "Energy Demand" (electrical, heating and cooling) and "grid electricity price". The choice is made to use an "average" year, take historic data from that year, and then create an average (base), a good (+10-20%), and a bad (-10-20%) outcome with equal probability of occurrence (33%) for each uncertain variable. With 3 possible outcomes for each of the 3 uncertain variables, 27 input scenarios are defined (3\*3\*3). This approach is chosen to simplify and therewith reduce the computational time of the results, as the added complexity does not change the post processing approach but does only increase the calculation time significantly. As mentioned earlier, this does not exactly represent the random sampling process that normally happens in MCS, but it does create a data-set with similar properties as MCS would produce.

As this energy system is a complex one with many components, many assumptions are made by consulting multiple sources. Values are based upon current day market values, invoices, technical data-sheets, and common sense. The used specifications and an in-depth elaboration on all the parameters can be found in appendix C.

3 variables are modelled as uncertain, with each 3 equally probable outcomes (table 3.1):

- 1. Grid electricity cost (base 33%, high 33%, low 33%)
- 2. PV yield (base 33%, cloudy 33%, sunny 33%)
- 3. Demand (base 33%, extreme 33%, frugal 33%)
  - (a) Electricity (S21).
  - (b) Heating (DHW+TH).
  - (c) Cooling (TH)

To compute the grid electricity price, historic time-series of Dutch grid data for 2017 are used and multiplied with 1.2 and 0.8 respectively to create a high and low scenario. Afterwards, a carbon tax of 150 [EU/kg CO<sub>2</sub>] (0,03 [EU/kWh] for the expected energy mix in 2030) is internalised by adding it to the grid price time-series. For the PV yield, measured data for the year 2017 for location "De Bilt" is used and multiplied with 0.9 and 1.1 respectively. For demand, 3 equally probable possible

Grid cost scenario	Pv scenario	Demand scenario	Total scenarios
Base	Base	Base	
<mark>High</mark>	Cloudy	Extreme	
(+20%)	(-10%)	(+20%)	
Low	Sunny	Frugal	3*3*3 = 27
(-20%)	(+10%)	(-20%)	

Table 3.1: Input scenarios for case 2.

outcomes are chosen for 100 A-labelled households in 2017. Average values for electrical, heating, and cooling demand are used as input time-series for the base outcome. High values are used for all three demand types simultaneously in the extreme case. For the frugal case, only low demand values are used as input. All time-series are modelled as hourly time-series for 1 year (8760 data-points). Certain physical and political assumptions about the minimum and maximum capacities for PV, hot storage, cold storage, hydrogen storage, electrolyzer and fuel cell technology are made, and can also be found more elaborately in appendix C.

Notable constraints assumed/chosen for Case 2:

- PV: Minimum is 375 kWp (kilo Watt peak), maximum is 750 kWp (available rooftop area). Minimum is 50% as newly built houses are highly likely to have PV panels on them.
- Cold and Hot water storage: Physical Maximum of 125 *m*<sup>3</sup> for 100 households for both types of storage. (2187.5 kWh hot storage, 730 kWh cold storage with dT's).
- Hydrogen storage: Minimum 1 tube trailer, maximum 5 tube trailers (safety).
- Electrolyzer = minimally 20% of average total demand per hour (avg demand = cooling + heating + dhw (domestic hot water) + electricity = 210 kWh/hour) -> 0,2 \* 210 = 42 kW.
- Fuel cell = same as minimum electrolyzer -> 42 kW minimum capacity.
- Minimum grid capacity of 3450 kW.

#### 3.3.3 Simulation Options

- Time-series (1 year, hourly)
- 3\*3\*3 = 27 "Monte Carlo" Scenarios
- SPOREs: 50 per scenario (15% slack), Evolving Average Method.
- Objective function = Minimise cost.
  - Grid CO<sub>2</sub> is internalised through 150 EU/Ton CO<sub>2</sub> tax.
  - 27 MCS \* 50 SPOREs = 1350 solution configurations.

#### 3.3.4 Visualised Input Data

The uncertain variables are modelled and shown as annual time-series in figures 3.21, 3.20, and 3.21.



Grid electricity cost low case.

Figure 3.19: An example of an annual time-series for the grid electricity price in the Netherlands in 2017.



Annual electrical, heating & cooling demand for base, extreme and frugal conditions.

Figure 3.20: The annual demand for electricity, cooling and heating for case 2 (Appendix C).

#### 3.3.5 Recap Additional Simulations

The workflow of the method as described in section 3.1 is applied in the context of case 2. However, additional simulations are conducted to case 2, while changing certain simulation options. These additional simulations aim to improve the effectiveness of the total workflow of the method, by comparing those different simulation options to provide a manual for choosing the optimization options.

The effect of changing the number of SPOREs on the quality of the results and on the advanced configuration selection is checked for the configuration solution space. This is done by running the optimising strategy for 50 SPOREs and for 15 SPOREs. Furthermore, the effect of a different



Figure 3.21: An example of Average monthly yield in kW per installed kWp of solar panels, based on location "The Bilt", from the year 2017 [5]. Base case = 0%, sunny case = +15%, cloudy case = -15%. Each case has a 33% probability of occurrence (Appendix C).

slack value on those same results is tested as well for the configuration solution space. This is done by running the optimising strategy for 15% slack and for 50% slack. Lastly, the improved selection method is compared to the cumbersome simple configuration choice approach. All these additional tests are applied to case 2 and their results are discussed in chapter 4.4.

# **4** Results

The final results of case 1 and 2 are explained in this chapter. First, the results of the method's application on case 1 are visualised. Subsequently, all the case 2 results from the methods' workflow are revealed. Afterwards, an analysis of the additional simulations for slack, number of SPOREs and the configuration selection method is done.

## 4.1 Case 1

The case 1 results reveal that the required functionalities work as expected. Except for minor hurdles/problems, they also show that most of the workflow can be applied to case 2. Case 1 is used to fine-tune the methodology into the version as explained in section 3.1. An in-depth elaboration on the inputs, assumptions, results, and discussion of case 1, can be found in appendix A. The simulations with a 15% cost slack, 5 SPOREs and 15 different input scenarios are run without the cluster on a private laptop within 12 hours.

### 4.1.1 Configuration Solution Space

After the optimising strategy, the SPOREs differ in spatial configuration from the optimal solution and other SPOREs as expected. The box-plots show which techniques are essential and which ones are not (see figures 4.1, 4.2, 4.3 & 4.4).







Figure 4.1: Boxplot for the Electricity cable connections between all 3 locations.

Figure 4.2: Boxplot for the installed battery capacities on locations X1 and X2.

Figure 4.3: The installed electrical demand capacity for locations X1 and X2.

Within the 15% cost slack, the power lines between X2 and X3 seem to be essential, since they have a capacity of at least 1 kW for all solutions (figure 4.1). A similar statement is made for batteries on both locations, as there is always a minimum installed storage capacity of 14 kWh for the complete configuration solution space. This means that the battery technology is essential, on both locations (figure 4.2). For the demand capacity, it is clearly visible and logical that it is directly related to the demand input scenarios. Installing a higher capacity than the maximum demand is pointless (figure 4.3).



Figure 4.4: Box-plot for the PV and Grid technologies on locations X1 and X2.

Within the 15% cost slack, the installed PV technology (PV type one) on location X1 is fixed for all input scenarios (figure 4.4, in every single solution). For location X2, the distribution of the installed PV types can change, but the roof is always completely covered. This difference can be attributed to the difference in roof inclination. A grid connection is always installed, but its size depends on the highest electrical flow.

Essential takeaways from the configuration solution space:

- **Model relations:** Installed demand capacity is directly related to the demand time-series from the input scenarios. The total installed cable capacity to location X3 must be equal to the maximum PV yield flow. The whole roof area is always used for PV, but the distribution of the PV type fluctuates.
- (non-) Essential technologies: The battery is essential for all input scenarios, as well as the electricity cable between X2 and X3. The energy system can also not operate without a grid connection.
- **Certainty range of technologies:** It can be seen that the PV technologies installed on location X2 and the batteries have a large spread in the solution data. This means that these technologies are sensitive to the input scenarios.

#### 4.1.2 Configuration Selection and Testable Configurations

For the remainder of this case, 4 configurations are selected by taking single solutions from the complete configuration solution space (the cumbersome configuration method).

- Configuration 1: Highest battery capacity (input scenario "2008", solution: "optimal").
- Configuration 2: Lowest NPV cost (input scenario "2019", solution "optimal).
- Configuration 3: Highest NPV cost (input scenario "2015", solution "SPORE 4").
- Configuration 4: Least CO<sub>2</sub> emission (input scenario "2018", solution "optimal").

As mentioned before in chapter 3, the cumbersome method completely ignores many valuable findings from the SPORE method, including recurring technology correlations. The exact capacity values for the selected configuration can be found in Appendix A.

#### 4.1.3 Results

For each of the configurations, the results for the performance indicators cost and  $CO_2$  are compiled in histogram plots (figures 4.5 to 4.12). It can be noted that some configurations are in general cheaper than others. Configuration 2 has on average cheaper results than configuration 1. In the same manner, the  $CO_2$  emissions of configuration 4 are on average much lower than those of configuration 3.



Figure 4.5: Cost histogram Configuration 1.



Figure 4.9: CO<sub>2</sub> histogram Configuration 1.



Figure 4.6: Cost histogram Configuration 2.



Figure 4.10: CO<sub>2</sub> histogram Configuration 2.



Cost Histogram Configuration 3

Figure 4.7: Cost histogram Configuration 3.

<sup>0.5</sup> <sup>0</sup> 26k 28k 30k 32k Cost [EU] Figure 4.8: Cost his-

togram Configuration 4.

Cost Histogram Configuration 4

2.5

2

\_\_\_\_\_\_

4.1. Case 1



togram Configuration 3.



Figure 4.12: CO<sub>2</sub> histogram Configuration 4.

The results of all configurations can be compared by making statistical calculations like the mean value. Those results are summarised in table 4.1.

Config	CO2 Mean	CO2 Max	Cost Mean	Cost Max	SOS	
1	1005	1269	29408	30722	100 %	
2	921	1349	28682	30522	99.8%	
3	999	1432	27058	29197	99.3%	
4	917	1354	28762	30635	100%	

Table 4.1: Summary results case 1.

From all these results, useful statements can be conducted like "there is an 80% chance to meet a 31k budget when choosing for configuration 1, under the chosen input scenarios". Similar statements can be made for other performance indicators like CO<sub>2</sub> and security of supply.

## 4.2 Case 2

Each scenario takes about 8-16 hours of simulation time. However, all simulations could be run in parallel within 16 hours thanks to the TU Delft cluster. The case 2 results are based on 15% slack, 50 SPOREs, 27 input scenarios and a 3% interest rate. With 50 SPOREs, the complete configuration solution space consists of 1377 Single solutions. A case 2 results overview can be found in section C.4.

#### 4.2.1 Configuration Solution Space

After the optimising strategy, 27 optimal solutions are conducted, along with 1350 SPOREs. For each scenario, the SPOREs prove to be maximally different from each other, offering good technologically different alternatives in addition to just the optimal one (see figure 4.13 and 4.14).



Figure 4.13: Energy capacity distributions for 4 different SPOREs, for input scenario 1.



Figure 4.14: Storage capacity distributions for 4 different SPOREs, for input scenario 1.

Each single solution shows expected behaviour. For SPORE 38 (randomly picked as an example where seasonal storage is visible) with input scenario 1, hydrogen storage is installed and used for seasonal storage. In summer, the heat storage gets charged since not much heating is needed then (figure 4.15), while in winter the heat storage is used as short-term storage (figure 4.17). In a summer month (figure 4.16), most electricity is provided by the PV panels, while the excess PV electricity is converted into hydrogen and sometimes even sold back to the grid.



Figure 4.15: Annual storage [kWh] time-series for SPORE 38, for input scenario 1.



Carrier flow: electricity

Figure 4.16: Electricity carrier flow [kW] time-series for SPORE 38 during a summer week, for input scenario 1.

Carrier flow: heat



Figure 4.17: Heat storage [kW] time-series for SPORE 38 during a winter week, for input scenario 1.



600

500

400

300

200

100

electrolyzer

[kwh]

Hydrogen Technology Capacity [kW]



Figure 4.18: Box-plot for the Energy capacity of the Storage technologies for all input scenarios.



Figure 4.19: Box-plot for the Energy capacity of the Hydrogen technologies for all input scenarios.

fuel\_cell

15% Slack, 50 Spores

hydrogenboiler



Storage Technology Capacity [kWh]

Figure 4.20: Box-plot for the Energy capacity of the Generation technologies for all input scenarios.

Figure 4.21: Box-plot for the Storage capacity [kWh] of the Storage technologies for all input scenarios.

When plotting the complete configuration solution space in box-plots, several essential takeaways can already visually be concluded (figures 4.18, 4.19, 4.20 & 4.21). These takeaways are sensitive to subjectivity, but can be objectified through the advanced configuration selection:

• Model relations: Installed demand capacity is directly related to the demand time-series from the input scenarios. Cooling can only be provided by the heat pump, therefore the heat pump, cold storage and cold demand are connected.

- (non-) Essential technologies: Heat storage is almost always at its maximum allowed storage capacity. PV is always at its minimum allowed installed capacity. Battery is almost always zero or very low. The grid capacity is almost always at its minimum.
- **Certainty range of technologies:** The electrolyzer, hydrogen boiler, fuel cell, and hydrogen storage have a large spread in the solution data. This means that these technologies are sensitive to the input scenarios. The PV, grid power, heat storage and battery on the other hand have little to no spread in the solution data, meaning that their capacities are fairly certain.

#### 4.2.2 Configuration Selection

For case 2, the advanced configuration selection method is applied instead of the cumbersome one (see section 3.2). 3 filters (top 10%, bottom 10% and average 10%) are applied for each technology to find structural and repetitive correlations between the technologies that are independent of the input scenarios. For example, when applying a top 10% filter to the storage capacity of hydrogen storage, the resulting capacities look as in figures 4.22, 4.23, 4.24 & 4.25.



Figure 4.22: Filtered box-plot for the generation technology energy capacity for all input scenarios.

Figure 4.23: Filtered box-plot for the hydrogen technology energy capacity for all input scenarios.

Some technologies show strong correlations with this filter. All the filtered results for heat storage [kWh] (kilo Watt hour), battery [kWh], cold storage [kW] (kilo Watt), battery [kW], fuel cell [kW], electrolyzer [kW], heat pump [kW], PV [kWp] and Grid connection [kW] have a very low spread compared to the unfiltered results. Cold storage [kWh] and hydrogen boiler [kW] still have a spread, but the other correlations can be used and translated to a reliable configuration.

As stated before, some technologies have (almost) no spread, meaning that the configuration filter for the top 10%, bottom 10% and average 10% are unnecessary. For these technologies, all 3 filters result in similar unreliable configurations, making those filters redundant. However, since the process is automised, a total of 52 configurations is automatically created for all 14 technologies (42 for the energy capacity, and 12 for the storage capacity). Eventually, only the configurations where the technology result distributions have a spread will be interesting to compare since many configurations are the same (table 4.2). For now, these "interesting" configurations are chosen manually by only proceeding with the results that are based on filters for the technologies that have a spread. However, this can be automised in the future by only proceeding with the technology/location combinations that have a spread (large enough normalised standard deviation). Ridge plots are created in the next section for the 20 interesting configurations.



Figure 4.24: Filtered box-plot for the storage technology energy capacity for all input scenarios.

Figure 4.25: Filtered box-plot for the storage technology storage capacity for all input scenarios.

Table 4.2: 20 interesting testable configurations that are tested against performance indicators in ridge plots in the next section. Each interesting testable configuration has its own configuration number (Python index). From the total set of 54 testable configurations, some are duplicates and some are unreliable configurations due to the lack of spread for a certain technology. Therefore, only a set of 20 testable configurations is used to visualise in the ridge-plots in the next section.

Technology	Filter type	Python index	Capacity type		
el_export	top 10%	7	energy_cap		
el_export	bottom 10%	9	energy_cap		
electrolyzer	top 10%	10	energy_cap		
electrolyzer	bottom 10%	13	energy_cap		
fuel_cell	top 10%	14	energy_cap		
fuel_cell	bottom 10%	16	energy_cap		
heat_pump	top 10%	17	energy_cap		
heat_pump	bottom 10%	19	energy_cap		
hydrogen_boiler	top 10%	24	energy_cap		
hydrogen_boiler	bottom 10%	26	energy_cap		
supply_grid_power	top 10%	34	energy_cap		
supply_grid_power	bottom 10%	36	energy_cap		
battery	top 10%	37	storage_cap		
battery	bottom 10%	39	storage_cap		
cold_storage	top 10%	40	storage_cap		
cold_storage	bottom 10%	42	storage_cap		
heat_storage	top 10%	43	storage_cap		
heat_storage	bottom 10%	46	storage_cap		
hydrogen_storage	top 10%	47	storage_cap		
hydrogen_storage	bottom 10%	49	storage_cap		

#### 4.2.3 Results

After creating the testable configurations with the use of the filters, they are tested against all the input scenarios to find out how each testable configuration scores on the chosen performance indicators, total cost,  $CO_2$  emitted, Grid dependency and security of supply. For each configuration, one histogram is created in which a single performance score is visualised against for the input scenarios. For configuration 7 (the top 10% filter for electrical export capacity), the histogram for the cost indicator is visualised in figure 4.26. The cost histogram for configuration 9 (the bottom 10% filter for electrical export capacity) is found in figure 4.27.





Figure 4.26: Cost histogram for configuration 7 (top 10% filter for high electrical export capacity), against all input scenarios with a mean of 4.45 Million Euros (NPV).

Figure 4.27: Cost histogram for configuration 9 (bottom 10% filter for low electrical export capacity), against all input scenarios with a mean of 4.95 Million Euros (NPV).

All the histogram results per performance indicator for each configuration are summarised simultaneously in the ridge plots, which are found in figures 4.28, 4.30 & 4.29 for the performance indicators total cost, CO<sub>2</sub> emitted and grid dependency. The histograms from figures 4.26 and 4.27 are the first two (7 and 9) histograms in the cost ridge-plot of figure 4.28.



Figure 4.28: Ridge-plot of the cost distribution for only the interesting configurations against all input scenarios for its entire lifetime. St means storage.

When regarding total cost (NPV) as a performance indicator (figure 4.28), it is noted that certain configurations require a higher cost than others. For example, configurations 10 (top 10% electrolyzer energy capacity), 14 (top 10% fuel cell energy capacity) and 47 (top 10% hydrogen storage, storage capacity) show high total cost results for all 27 input scenarios, while configurations 19 (bottom 10% heat pump energy capacity) and 37 (top 10% battery storage capacity) have a much lower cost result. It must be kept in mind that a cheap configuration can go hand in hand with a lower score for the other performance indicators.



Figure 4.29: Ridge-plot of the grid dependency distribution for only the interesting configurations against all input scenarios. St means storage.

With regard to grid dependency, it is stated that the results are fairly spread out. Nonetheless, the severity of this spread for some configurations is smaller than other configurations and the mean values are much lower than other configurations. For configurations 13 (bottom 10% electrolyzer energy capacity), 19 (bottom 10% heat pump energy capacity) and 26 (bottom 10% hydrogen boiler energy capacity), it is seen that the spread is much lower compared to the other configurations. Despite these differences in spread, it is still possible to find advantages and disadvantages between configurations. For example, a lower grid dependency is imminent for all input scenarios when a low electrolyzer energy capacity is installed. Figure 4.29 also tells us that when a high amount of fuel cell energy capacity is installed (configuration 14), a lot of grid energy is needed to make the energy system feasible.



Figure 4.30: Ridge-plot of the CO<sub>2</sub> distribution for the interesting configurations against all input scenarios for its entire lifetime. St means storage.

Regarding the CO<sub>2</sub> performance indicator, it is visible that the results are highly dependent on the input scenarios. Since in 33% of the input scenarios a high demand is simulated, in 33% an average demand, and in 33% a frugal demand, it is expected that three small islands are visible for each configuration in figure 4.30. Ideally, more than just 3 demand input scenarios are used for better analysis that would fill the holes between these "islands" of histograms in the ridge plot. Nonetheless, certain configurations always have a lower CO<sub>2</sub> footprint compared to other configurations. It is clearly visible that configuration 13 (bottom 10% electrolyzer energy capacity) has the lowest CO<sub>2</sub> footprint of all configurations and that either configuration 10 (top 10% electrolyzer energy capacity) or 14 (top 10% fuel cell energy capacity) has the largest CO<sub>2</sub> footprint on average, for all the input scenarios. The SOS ridge-plot is not displayed, but is represented in the next 6 figures (figures 4.31, 4.32, 4.33, 4.34, 4.35 & 4.36) as an additional performance indicator.

Figure 4.31 shows all the mean configurations scores for CO<sub>2</sub> and grid dependency simultaneously. The trend-line fits fairly well to the data, which makes sense since most CO<sub>2</sub> emissions are related





Figure 4.34: Cost VS Grid Dependency plot.

Supply plot.

Figure 4.35: Cost VS Security of Figure 4.36: Grid dependency VS Security of Supply plot.

0.71

to the grid imported electricity (see figure C.1). The other figures can all be used for the decision making process of a project's design phase. For some project designers CO<sub>2</sub> footprint is more important than cost. While SOS is the most important driver for other projects. In addition, three performance indicators can be plotted simultaneously in a 3D plot as well as in figure 4.37).



Figure 4.37: 3D plot of Cost, CO<sub>2</sub> and security of supply.

## 4.3 Finalised Design Advice

If for example a project designer's main design drivers are to reduce the  $CO_2$  emissions while maintaining a high security of supply, figure 4.32 is used to select the best configuration according to the designers preference. The configurations on the right side of the figure all have a similarly high SOS, but a different  $CO_2$  score. In this case, Configuration 24 (top 10% hydrogen boiler energy capacity) is one of the better options since it reduces the  $CO_2$  emissions while maintaining a 0.999 SOS. From the configuration selection method, the testable configuration 24 is selected and used as design advice for the project. The retrieved component capacities from the advanced configuration selection method can be seen in figures 4.38 and 4.39.

Configuration 24: Tech capacity [kW]





Figure 4.38: Energy capacities for technologies for configuration 24.



It is also possible to create an overview of the statistical results in a table. In table 4.3, all ridge-plot results are described through their mean values and standard deviations (STD). A designer can then apply decision drivers simultaneously and directly see the trade-offs between them.

Technology	Filter type	Configuration	Mean cost	STD cost	Mean SOS	STD SOS	Mean co2	STD co2	Mean grid dep.	STD grid dep.
El export	top 10%	7	4448170	13474	0,992	0,011	177977	32015	0,688	0,032
El export	bottom 10%	9	4955258	14359	1,000	0,000	179140	35346	0,691	0,043
Electrolyzer	top 10%	10	5071707	14136	1,000	0,000	186654	34493	0,710	0,035
Electrolyzer	bottom 10%	13	4237935	11065	0,965	0,030	169602	26433	0,654	0,018
Fuel cell	top 10%	14	5072035	14136	1,000	0,000	186656	34492	0,710	0,035
Fuel cell	bottom 10%	16	4593889	13448	0,992	0,011	177018	32172	0,683	0,033
Heat pump	top 10%	17	4941880	14274	1,000	0,000	179609	34994	0,693	0,041
Heat pump	bottom 10%	19	3989249	11712	0,972	0,026	177940	27443	0,684	0,016
H2 boiler	top 10%	24	4931633	14056	1,000	0,001	177858	34677	0,685	0,041
H2 boiler	bottom 10%	26	4239636	11798	0,973	0,026	180925	27790	0,692	0,016
Grid power	top 10%	34	4521092	13591	0,993	0,010	178227	32468	0,689	0,033
Grid power	bottom 10%	36	4523299	13592	0,993	0,010	178221	32473	0,688	0,033
Battery	top 10%	37	4018884	12977	0,986	0,014	179880	30844	0,693	0,025
Battery	bottom 10%	39	4609744	13690	0,994	0,008	178191	32897	0,688	0,034
Cold storage	top 10%	40	4909416	14135	0,999	0,002	183557	34212	0,702	0,036
Cold storage	bottom 10%	42	4614118	13521	0,993	0,010	177327	32320	0,685	0,033
Heat storage	top 10%	43	4524623	13592	0,993	0,010	178216	32472	0,688	0,033
Heat storage	bottom 10%	46	4521092	13591	0,993	0,010	178227	32468	0,689	0,033
H2 storage	top 10%	47	5069456	14345	1,000	0,000	178798	35436	0,689	0,044
H2 storage	bottom 10%	49	4608950	13767	0,996	0,006	185276	33012	0,709	0,030
		Unit:	[EU]	[EU]	[%]	[%]	[kg CO2]	[kg CO2]	[%]	[%]

Table 4.3: Overview of statistical data for all interesting configurations. the mean and STD values for cost, SOS, CO<sub>2</sub> and grid dependency are displayed.

The structural uncertainty can now more easily be addressed by filtering the testable configurations to those that meet the additional design criteria. For example, if the installed cold storage capacity is preferably low due to a personal preference or due to an upcoming subsidy, the effects of that preference to the performance indicators can directly be found in the summarised statistics table.

When using the conventional SPOREs method (without MCS), one only considers one input scenario, resulting in only viable cost effective spatially different solutions for one future outcome. These results however, only show spatially different configurations that work very well for multiple uncertain scenarios, making the results more robust against uncertain futures.

Compared to using only MCS, this method is much more efficient as it only provides results that work very well for the input scenarios (thanks to the optimising steps). Furthermore, the sub optimal solutions are used as well in conducting the testable scenarios, automatically providing multiple other design criteria without the need to define those through human input in the scenario definition.

## 4.4 Additional Simulations

Additional simulations have been run to see the effect of different SPOREs and slack values on the results.

#### 4.4.1 15 VS 50 SPOREs & 15% Slack VS 50% Slack

The effect of simulating a different number of SPOREs (15 and 50), while keeping the slack value constant is only fairly visible. The main spreads and ranges of both results are very similar and comparable, which can mean that a fewer number of SPOREs (lower computational power) is enough to find similar results. However, it can still be argued that when an energy system is complex (many technologies and spatial locations), a similar spread might not be enough to map all possible maximally different spatial solutions. Therefore, a higher number of SPOREs is preferred for those complex energy systems. Nonetheless, a valid statement about the perfect number of SPOREs, for a specific energy system can not be conducted from these results. The results only show that additional research is required if the computational time for these calculations is to be optimised.

However, changing the slack value does present a clear difference in results. As expected, a higher slack results in a larger spread for the uncertain technologies. A higher amount of capacity can be purchased with a larger budget, resulting in even more spatially different (varying capacity distributions between multiple nodes with similar technologies) solutions compared to a lower slack value. As further discussed in chapter 5, this does not mean that a higher slack value should always be used for this method. The slack value should strongly depend on what phase the project is in and if a larger budget for the project is available or not.



Figure 4.40: Box-plot for the Storage capacity [kWh] for all storage technologies with all input scenarios at 15% slack and 15 SPOREs.

Figure 4.41: Box-plot for the Storage capacity [kWh] for all storage technologies with all input scenarios at 15% slack and 50 SPOREs.

Figure 4.42: Box-plot for the Storage capacity [kWh] for all storage technologies with all input scenarios at 50% slack and 50 SPOREs.







Figure 4.43: Box-plot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all generation technologies with all input scenarios at 15% slack and 15 SPOREs.

Figure 4.44: Box-plot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all generation technologies with all input scenarios at 15% slack and 50 SPOREs.

Figure 4.45: Box-plot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all generation technologies with all input scenarios at 50% slack and 50 SPOREs.



Figure 4.46: Boxplot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all hydrogen technologies with all input scenarios at 15% slack and 15 SPOREs.





Figure 4.47: Boxplot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all hydrogen technologies with all input scenarios at 15% slack and 50 SPOREs.

Figure 4.48: Boxplot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all hydrogen technologies with all input scenarios at 50% slack and 50 SPOREs.

#### 4.4.2 Advanced Configuration Selection Method

As visualised in the beginning of section 3.3, the advanced configuration selection method is used successfully for case 2. Figures 4.22, 4.23, 4.24 & 4.25 show how a single filter is applied to the complete configuration solution space. This approach is much more viable compared to the cumbersome configuration selection method that was used for case 1. This method provides a structured and automatised way to check the effects of changing each technology-location combination for a top 10%, average 10% and bottom 10% capacity, making it much more reliable than simple selecting single solutions from the configuration solution space.



Figure 4.49: Boxplot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all storage technologies with all input scenarios at 15% slack and 15 SPOREs.

Figure 4.50: Boxplot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all storage technologies with all input scenarios at 15% slack and 50 SPOREs.

Figure 4.51: Boxplot for the Energy capacity [kW] for all storage technologies with all input scenarios at 50% slack and 50 SPOREs.

# **5** Discussion

# 5.1 Study Objectives and Key Findings

The case 1 results reveal that the required functionalities work as expected, and except for minor problems, they also show that most of the workflow could be applied to case 2. Case 1 is used to fine tune the methodology into the version as explained in chapter 3. The case 2 results show that the study objectives are successfully obtained with the proposed method. It shows the potential to be a reliable insightful method for energy system design that provides useful findings which are crucial in deciding the best final energy system composition.

# 5.2 Method Application

A dependency check is included to verify if the resulting filtered data is not too dependent on the input scenarios in the advanced configuration selection method. This step is reasonable and necessary since a high capacity of (for example) wind power can strongly depend on an input scenario where a lot of wind occurs, implying that installing more wind power is much more useful than a different energy source for that input scenario. This is in that case not a correlation of the technologies within the energy system itself, but a direct correlation of the high wind production and wind power capacity. Since the goal of the advanced configuration selection method is to find energy system specific correlations, it is not useful if the filter analyses configurations that only have a direct correlation to the inputs. This is currently conducted automatically in the dependency check, based on an arbitrarily chosen value of 25% dependency. This value can be improved by replacing it with one based on literature.

The simulations for this thesis are conducted on a TU Delft student account on the high computing power (HPC) cluster. This student account has a standard available disk space of 15 GB on the cluster. The method results are compressed into netCDF files with Calliope's functionality for this thesis, resulting in a maximum required disk space of about 5 GB. These netCDF results are moved to a laptop and translated into CSV files that are required to calculate the performance indicators. A larger available storage capacity is recommended for more complex future projects that include more or better uncertain variables.

With the current settings and cluster availability, the case 2 calculations are conducted within 16 hours by running all 27 scenarios in parallel. Each input scenario then takes up to 16 hours to conduct its optimal solution and the 50 sub optimal solutions. As of this day, Francesco Lombardi (main developer of SPOREs) is also working on an improved SPORE version that allows the SPORE calculations to be executed in parallel. When finished, this improvement can greatly reduce the calculation time for these energy system problems, making the method even more promising with regards to high computational computing.

Two different simulations are conducted with a different number of SPOREs for case 2. The difference in results (see section 4.4.1) is not large as the spreads are similar for both simulations, meaning that 15 SPOREs seems to provide enough distributed results for this energy system. However, the drawback for a reduced number of spores is that they might not provide enough solutions for identifying all possible different configuration solutions. The current number of SPOREs (50) is chosen arbitrarily, but can be calculated automatically by finding a correlation between the complexity of the energy system (number of technology/location combinations) and the variability of them in the results. By finding the number of active constraints and technologies of the energy system, this correlation could be found. Additional simulations and research to verify this automatised calculation for the best number of SPOREs is recommended.

A similar statement is made about the currently arbitrarily chosen SPORE slack value. A large spread and maximally different capacity distributions are available in the results with the 15% slack value, resulting in valuable insights thanks to the increased budget. A larger spread in the results is visible (see section 4.4.1) with the additional simulation of 50% cost slack, providing additional insight in component sensitivity. Choosing the best slack value for a project is dependent on project criteria, but running for multiple slack values can always provide additional insight in the trade-offs between money and other decision drivers, making running for multiple slack values as a standard an attractive option.

Many literature-based assumptions are made for the component characteristics for case 1 and 2, resulting in a realistic digital energy model compared to one that is based on simplified assumptions. However, the components can be made even more realistic by finding the best way to represent a digital version of it. For example, some components are modelled as if they don't produce any CO<sub>2</sub> during the production process, and some component prices or interest rates are based on (price) ranges. By providing more realistic values, the energy model can be made even more realistic.

Operation strategies is a challenging subject to address, as they will always be a drawback within optimization. Optimization always calculates the best dispatch, despite any preference of energy usage. In case a designer prefers to charge the battery first with excess solar production before sending it to an electrolyzer or selling it to the grid, the optimization will completely ignore this preference if the optimal solution is otherwise (which can be the case if battery storage has a lower levelised cost of energy (LCOE), compared to selling electricity to the grid). Some strategies can be implemented in optimization by adding additional constraints, but not all of them. However, this is a general optimization problem that is not within the scope of this thesis to consider thoroughly.

The computational power of computers is increasing, and will keep doing so in the future. The optimization is currently done with data-sets of hourly resolution, that oversee aspects like ramp up time and peak usage. Energy system modelling can be made even more realistic if they are analysed for their real-time data with a higher resolution, which will be feasible eventually in the near future with the increasing computational power.

In the advanced configuration selection method, each technology/location combination is filtered 3 times to obtain its top 10%, bottom 10% and average 10% capacity solutions. This results in a valuable set of testable configurations that are tested further on in the evaluation. However, many solutions are inter correlated between certain technologies, resulting in similar configurations that occur more than once. The advanced configuration selection method can therefore be even further improved by automatically filtering out all repetitive configurations from the resulting configurations. This could also be prevented earlier in the process by including some sort of sensitivity analysis of the technology-location combinations, before creating all the filtered results.

Moreover, a focus can be applied within the advanced configuration selection method if the main decision should depend on just a few technologies (given as input). The advanced configuration method can then look at those technology-location combinations with a higher resolution, ignoring the other technology-location combinations. If for example hydrogen storage is an interesting factor for a client, this could mean that more than just 3 filters can be applied to this technology (for example the top 5%, the <sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub> 5%, the avg 5%, the <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> 5%, and bottom 5%). Then, a more in-depth analysis will be done on the technology-location combination that is of most interest to the designer or client.

All the configurations are tested against all the input parameters in the evaluation phase. This is currently done with the "plan" mode of Calliope. However, when using Calliope's plan mode, perfect forecast of the inputs is considered which is unrealistic in practice. A shorter forecast window is considered every day (24 hours) when using operate mode, where the input parameters of only the next few days (48 hours) are considered instead of the entire year. This is more realistic since in practice energy systems don't make decisions based on the next year, but more likely on the next few days by taking weather forecasts into account. Before deciding to use plan mode for the evaluation phase, the operate mode has been attempted. Unfortunately, operation mode is currently not maintained as much within Calliope as plan mode, leading to bugs for some specific model configurations, often involving storage technologies. However, it is expected that this problem is resolved in the next major release of Calliope, which is coming soon. Operate mode is preferred for future more realistic operations, despite possibly losing insight in the seasonal storage solutions.

All the correlations within the energy system are automatically accounted for through the advanced configuration method, resulting in testable configurations that are tested in the evaluation phase. Despite all being accounted for, these correlations are not made visible with the final results. They can however be extracted by looking at the intermediate results in the configuration selection phase. These intermediate results help understand the essential operation features of an energy system.

# 5.3 Scientific Impact and Practical Applications

As requested in the introduction of this thesis, the combined method combines the strengths of optimization modelling and scenario modelling. It provides a structured approach that can provide valuable design insights about the energy system that is addressed.

What makes this method so universal is its ability to choose between using all or just a selection of its functionalities. This method provides the possibility to include parametric uncertainty by defining multiple scenarios (MCS) with different future outcomes. It can include energy systems with multiple spatial nodes by defining them in the energy system configuration. It can also use sub optimal solutions to address more structural uncertainty by allowing more than 0 SPOREs. The method can also find relevant and interesting testable configurations automatically by applying the advanced configuration selection method instead of the cumbersome configuration selection method. All of these functionalities can, but don't have to be used when the designer is less interested in the use of one of them.

Furthermore, this method can be applied to a wide variety of energy system types. As long as the energy systems' possible components, their technical aspects and their allowed interactions are known beforehand, the energy system can be analysed with this method. The allowed energy system is also not limited to specific energy carriers, as they can be defined by hand in Calliope manually.

# 6 Conclusion

## 6.1 Answers to Research Questions

To reflect back on the main purposes of the thesis, the aim to create a method that can address parametric and structural uncertainty simultaneously is by all means achieved. This thesis shows that two methods can successfully be combined into one concise method, while providing relevant and valuable insights that can be used for design phases in energy systems. The research questions, as proposed in chapter 1 are answered in this chapter as well:

How can intermittent energy system models provide reliable insights for optimised energy system designs by systematically including both structural and parametric uncertainties?

- 1. Which variables are most relevant to model as uncertain in the ESM?
- 2. How can these uncertain variables be modelled in a reliable and accurate way to be used as inputs for the combined method?
- 3. Which methods are effective in addressing parametric and structural uncertainty in ESOM and which ones are most suitable for this thesis?
- 4. How can the most suitable methods be systematically combined into a single method?
- 5. Can applying the method to one or two intermittent and renewable case studies (im)prove its effectiveness and does it improve energy system design?
- 6. What kind of useful insights can this method provide when applied to one or two W+B cases regarding effective energy system design?
- 7. How can the method be made easily accessible for other future energy system design projects?

The most relevant and commonly modelled uncertain variables in ESM (1) are solar yield, wind yield, demand, and prices (read more in section 2.5, table 2.2). These uncertain variables are commonly modelled (2) by taking Monte Carlo scenario samples through Weibull distributions (for wind), the ARMA technique (for wind), the TPLF method (for solar) and by reusing historic data (read more in sections 2.2 & 2.5). MCS, SO and RO are the most broadly methods used to address (3) parametric uncertainty in ESM (read more in section 2.2), while MGA and SPOREs are great ESM methods to address structural uncertainty (read more in section 2.3). For this thesis, the combination of both MCS and SPOREs are most suitable in regards to the design of energy systems. The methods are combined (4) into an effective method by running SPOREs optimization for multiple Monte Carlo scenarios (read more in chapter 3).

When applying the method (5) to two case studies (case 1 and case 2), promising output results are found that can be used for improved design purposes. These results entail (6) histograms, ridge plots and statistical values (read more in chapter 4) that summarise the performances for all configurations effectively, making the benefits and disadvantages of each technology trade-off very clear. Case 2 is relevant to one of W+B's current projects and its results can directly be used for further evaluation and improvement of the project design (read more in section 4.3). The approach that has been used can be applied to different inputs (7) and energy systems by feeding different data to the framework.

# 6.2 General Conclusion

The study objectives are successfully obtained with the proposed method. It shows the potential to be a reliable insightful method for energy system design. This method provides the insights to find (non)-essential technologies, and quantifies the monetary trade-offs in deciding between technology/location capacities, just like when only using the SPORE method. It clarifies the possible decision space that can provide solutions (political and socially motivated) other than the cheapest one, but all with the possibility to include uncertain inputs.

The proposed method can be seen as a vital tool to help speed up the decarbonization process for energy systems since it also concludes uncertain input parameters. Since many aspects of the future energy systems are uncertain, this addition is essential to make energy system design inclusive. It can and should be used by all energy system designers that have uncertain features and can be implemented into the Calliope framework as a new method (next to the current plan, operate and SPORE modes) and turned on if relevant.

The method is highly recommended for energy systems that are complex and too hard to solve analytically. It provides insights that are worth the computational time since many problems can be solved beforehand by modelling the energy system properly with this method.

# 6.3 Recommendations for Further Research

The cases that are used for this thesis represent the methods effectiveness in a broad manner. In this thesis the method is tested on simplified energy systems in case 1 and case 2, showing a high effectiveness when applied to energy systems that are subject to uncertainty. However, the method's effectiveness can still be tested for different cases as well:

- More uncertain variables: In reality, more than 3 variables can be uncertain. The method's performance can be tested for energy systems with more than 3 uncertain variables.
- **Better representation of the uncertain variables:** For case 1 and 2, a simplified approach is used to create uncertain input scenarios. Energy systems with more realistic uncertain variables should also be analysed with this method.
- Larger sample size: Creating more realistic scenarios from uncertain variables can be achieved by taking more samples from the uncertain variable.
- Energy system spatial configuration (inputs): In case 2, only one spatial location is considered, while in reality the energy system is much more complex. Testing the method on the same system with and without spatial resolution can provide different results and different computational times (see figure 6.1).
- **Different temporal resolution:** Currently, the model is run for hourly data. But using a longer time scale (like for example 2, 4 or 6 hours) can also produce similar results while reducing the computational time significantly. Therefore testing the method on both resolutions will provide insight in the trade-offs between computational time and temporal resolution.


Figure 6.1: An advanced version of the spatial configuration of case 2.

# Bibliography

- [1] Charles D. Keeling, Stephen C. Piper, Robert B. Bacastow, Martin Wahlen, Timothy P. Whorf, Martin Heimann, and Harro A. Meijer. Atmospheric CO2 and 13CO2 Exchange with the Terrestrial Biosphere and Oceans from 1978 to 2000: Observations and Carbon Cycle Implications. *A History of Atmospheric CO2 and Its Effects on Plants, Animals, and Ecosystems*, pages 83–113, jul 2005.
- [2] Ming Hua Lin, Jung Fa Tsai, and Chian Son Yu. A review of deterministic optimization methods in engineering and management. *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, 2012, 2012.
- [3] Farhad Samadi Gazijahani and Javad Salehi. Robust Design of Microgrids with Reconfigurable Topology under Severe Uncertainty. *IEEE Transactions on Sustainable Energy*, 9(2):559–569, apr 2018.
- [4] S. Pfenninger and B. Pickering. Influence of solver choice on speed Calliope 0.6.7 documentation, 2013.
- [5] S. Pfenninger and I. Staffell. Renewables.ninja, 2021.
- [6] J. Jurkoca. Terraced House, Vector Icon, Black Contour Stock Vector Illustration of building, object: 108359385.
- [7] Maria Laura Delle Monache, Benedetto Piccoli, and Francesco Rossi. Traffic regulation via controlled speed limit. SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, 55(5):2936–2958, 2017.
- [8] J. Holtz. Basic ridgeline plot the R Graph Gallery, 2018.
- [9] Seed-Energy. Vers un site autonome en électricité | SEED ENERGY, 2021.
- [10] S. M. Zahraee, M. Khalaji Assadi, and R. Saidur. Application of Artificial Intelligence Methods for Hybrid Energy System Optimization. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 66:617–630, dec 2016.
- [11] O. Erdinc and M. Uzunoglu. Optimum design of hybrid renewable energy systems: Overview of different approaches. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 16(3):1412–1425, apr 2012.
- [12] S. Surender Reddy, Vuddanti Sandeep, and Chan-Mook Jung. Review of stochastic optimization methods for smart grid. *Frontiers in Energy* 2017 11:2, 11(2):197–209, mar 2017.
- [13] Francesco Lombardi, Bryn Pickering, Emanuela Colombo, and Stefan Pfenninger. Policy Decision Support for Renewables Deployment through Spatially Explicit Practically Optimal Alternatives. *Joule*, 4(10):2185–2207, oct 2020.
- [14] Dieter Lüthi, Martine Le Floch, Bernhard Bereiter, Thomas Blunier, Jean-Marc Barnola, Urs Siegenthaler, Dominique Raynaud, Jean Jouzel, Hubertus Fischer, Kenji Kawamura, and Thomas F. Stocker. High-resolution carbon dioxide concentration record 650,000–800,000 years before present. *Nature 2008* 453:7193, 453(7193):379–382, may 2008.

- [15] D. M. Etheridge, J. M. Barnola, V. I. Morgan, L. P. Steele, R. L. Langenfelds, R. J. Francey, and Monica Martinez. Historical CO2 Records from the Law Dome DE08, DE08-2, and DSS Ice Cores. jan 1998.
- [16] M Roser, H Ritchie, and E. Ortiz-Ospina. World Population Growth . Our World in Data, 2013.
- [17] S. A. Montzka, E. J. Dlugokencky, and J. H. Butler. Non-CO2 greenhouse gases and climate change. *Nature* 2011 476:7358, 476(7358):43–50, aug 2011.
- [18] Catherine Wolfram, Orie Shelef, and Paul Gertler. How Will Energy Demand Develop in the Developing World? *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 26(1):119–38, dec 2012.
- [19] D. J. Hofmann, J. H. Butler, E. J. Dlugokencky, J. W. Elkins, K. Masarie, S. A. Montzka, and P. Tans. The role of carbon dioxide in climate forcing from 1979 to 2004: introduction of the Annual Greenhouse Gas Index. *http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0889.2006.00201.x*, 58(5):614–619, nov 2017.
- [20] V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, H. O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P. R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J. B. R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M.I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignot, and T. Waterfield. Global warming of 1.5°C An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty. Technical report, IPCC, 2018.
- [21] O. Edenhofer, R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, E. Farahani, S. Kadner, K. Seyboth, A. Adler, I. Baum, S. Brunner, P. Eickemeier, B. Kriemann, J. Savolainen, S. Schlömer, C. von Stechow, T. Zwickel, and J.C. Minx. Climate Change 2014 Mitigation of Climate Change Working Group III Contribution to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Edited by. Technical report, IPCC, Cambridge, 2014.
- [22] Jochen Markard, Rob Raven, and Bernhard Truffer. Sustainability transitions: An emerging field of research and its prospects. *Research Policy*, 41(6):955–967, jul 2012.
- [23] Over ons | Witteveen+Bos, 2021.
- [24] João Abel Peças Lopes, André Guimarães Madureira, Manuel Matos, Ricardo Jorge Bessa, Vítor Monteiro, João Luiz Afonso, Sérgio F. Santos, João P. S. Catalão, Carlos Henggeler Antunes, and Pedro Magalhães. The future of power systems: Challenges, trends, and upcoming paradigms. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Energy and Environment*, 9(3):e368, may 2020.
- [25] Matthias Weitzel. The role of uncertainty in future costs of key CO2 abatement technologies: a sensitivity analysis with a global computable general equilibrium model. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change* 2017 22:1, 22(1):153–173, jul 2017.
- [26] Georgios Mavromatidis, Kristina Orehounig, and Jan Carmeliet. A review of uncertainty characterisation approaches for the optimal design of distributed energy systems. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 88:258–277, may 2018.
- [27] Peter McCallum, David P. Jenkins, Andrew D. Peacock, Sandhya Patidar, Merlinda Andoni, David Flynn, and Valentin Robu. A multi-sectoral approach to modelling community energy demand of the built environment. *Energy Policy*, 132:865–875, sep 2019.
- [28] Javier Tovar-Facio, Mariano Martín, and José María Ponce-Ortega. Sustainable energy transition: modeling and optimization. *Current Opinion in Chemical Engineering*, 31:100661, mar 2021.
- [29] Ottmar Edenhofer, Kai Lessmann, Claudia Kemfert, Michael Grubb, and Jonathan Kohler. Induced Technological Change: Exploring its Implications for the Economics of Atmospheric Stabilization: Synthesis Report from the Innovation Modeling Comparison Project. *The Energy Journal*, 27(Special Issue 1):57–107, mar 2006.

- [30] Steven Chu and Arun Majumdar. Opportunities and challenges for a sustainable energy future. *Nature 2012 488:7411*, 488(7411):294–303, aug 2012.
- [31] Chun Sing Lai, Giorgio Locatelli, Andrew Pimm, Xiaomei Wu, and Loi Lei Lai. A review on long-term electrical power system modeling with energy storage. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 280:124298, jan 2021.
- [32] Avinash Shankar Rammohan Subramanian, Truls Gundersen, and Thomas Alan Adams. Modeling and Simulation of Energy Systems: A Review. *Processes 2018, Vol. 6, Page 238*, 6(12):238, nov 2018.
- [33] Henrik Lund, Finn Arler, Poul Alberg Østergaard, Frede Hvelplund, David Connolly, Brian Vad Mathiesen, and Peter Karnøe. Simulation versus Optimisation: Theoretical Positions in Energy System Modelling. *Energies 2017, Vol. 10, Page 840*, 10(7):840, jun 2017.
- [34] Ninoslav Holjevac, Tomislav Capuder, and Igor Kuzle. Adaptive control for evaluation of flexibility benefits in microgrid systems. *Energy*, 92:487–504, dec 2015.
- [35] G. Giannakidis, M. Labriet, B. Ó Gallachóir, and G. Tosato. Informing Energy and Climate Policies Using Energy Systems Models, volume 30 of Lecture Notes in Energy. Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2015.
- [36] Ralph A. Wurbs. ReservoirSystem Simulation and Optimization Models. Journal of Water Resources Planning and Management, 119(4):455–472, jul 1993.
- [37] Anh Tuan Nguyen, Sigrid Reiter, and Philippe Rigo. A review on simulation-based optimization methods applied to building performance analysis. *Applied Energy*, 113:1043–1058, jan 2014.
- [38] Stig Inge Gustafsson. Optimization and simulation of building energy systems. Applied Thermal Engineering, 20(18):1731–1741, dec 2000.
- [39] Md Shahriar Mahbub, Marco Cozzini, Poul Alberg Østergaard, and Fabrizio Alberti. Combining multi-objective evolutionary algorithms and descriptive analytical modelling in energy scenario design. *Applied Energy*, 164:140–151, feb 2016.
- [40] Joseph DeCarolis, Hannah Daly, Paul Dodds, Ilkka Keppo, Francis Li, Will McDowall, Steve Pye, Neil Strachan, Evelina Trutnevyte, Will Usher, Matthew Winning, Sonia Yeh, and Marianne Zeyringer. Formalizing best practice for energy system optimization modelling. *Applied Energy*, 194:184–198, may 2017.
- [41] David Draper. Assessment and Propagation of Model Uncertainty. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological)*, 57(1):45–70, jan 1995.
- [42] Xiufeng Yue, Steve Pye, Joseph DeCarolis, Francis G.N. Li, Fionn Rogan, and Brian Gallachóir. A review of approaches to uncertainty assessment in energy system optimization models. *Energy Strategy Reviews*, 21:204–217, aug 2018.
- [43] Evelina Trutnevyte. Does cost optimization approximate the real-world energy transition? *Energy*, 106:182–193, jul 2016.
- [44] A. Zakaria, Firas B. Ismail, M. S.Hossain Lipu, and M. A. Hannan. Uncertainty models for stochastic optimization in renewable energy applications. *Renewable Energy*, 145:1543–1571, jan 2020.
- [45] B. Gjorgiev, G. Sansavini, and P. Crespo Del Granado. NAVIGATING THE ROADMAP FOR CLEAN, SECURE AND EFFICIENT ENERGY INNOVATION: Risk and Uncertainty Modelling in Energy Systems. Technical report, ETH Zurich, Zurich, 2017.
- [46] Will Usher and Neil Strachan. Critical mid-term uncertainties in long-term decarbonisation pathways. *Energy Policy*, 41:433–444, feb 2012.
- [47] Harold A Linstone. Shaping the Next One Hundred Years: New Methods for Quantitative, Long-Term Policy Analysis: R.J. Lempert, S.W. Popper, and S.C. Bankes, Santa Monica, CA,

The RAND Corporation, 2003. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 71(3):305–307, mar 2004.

- [48] Yong Zeng, Yanpeng Cai, Guohe Huang, and Jing Dai. A Review on Optimization Modeling of Energy Systems Planning and GHG Emission Mitigation under Uncertainty. *Energies* 2011, *Vol. 4, Pages* 1624-1656, 4(10):1624–1656, oct 2011.
- [49] Jan Priesmann, Lars Nolting, and Aaron Praktiknjo. Are complex energy system models more accurate? An intra-model comparison of power system optimization models. *Applied Energy*, 255:113783, dec 2019.
- [50] Karl Erich Lindenschmidt, Katrin Fleischbein, and Martina Baborowski. Structural uncertainty in a river water quality modelling system. *Ecological Modelling*, 204(3-4):289–300, jun 2007.
- [51] Francis G.N. Li and Evelina Trutnevyte. Investment appraisal of cost-optimal and near-optimal pathways for the UK electricity sector transition to 2050. *Applied Energy*, 189:89–109, mar 2017.
- [52] J. F. DeCarolis, S. Babaee, B. Li, and S. Kanungo. Modelling to generate alternatives with an energy system optimization model. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 79:300–310, may 2016.
- [53] James Price and Ilkka Keppo. Modelling to generate alternatives: A technique to explore uncertainty in energy-environment-economy models. *Applied Energy*, 195:356–369, jun 2017.
- [54] Yannick van Til. Meetings and Interviews with employees of Witteveen en Bos, 2021.
- [55] Stefan Pfenninger, Adam Hawkes, and James Keirstead. Energy systems modeling for twentyfirst century energy challenges. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 33:74–86, may 2014.
- [56] Isaiah K. Kimutai, P. Maina, and Augustine B. Makokha. Energy Optimization Model Using Linear Programming for Process Industry: A Case Study of Textile Manufacturing Plant in Kenya. *International journal of energy engineering*, 9:45–52, 2019.
- [57] Z. Lukszo. Slides Introduction Optimization ED and LP1 SET3060 Energy System Optimization (2018/19 Q1), 2018.
- [58] Z. Lukszo. 2018-2019 slides week 2 SET3060 Energy System Optimization (2018/19 Q1), 2018.
- [59] J. Burke. Linear Optimization Introduction. In Math 407-Linear Optimization. 2020.
- [60] M. Fadaee and M. A.M. Radzi. Multi-objective optimization of a stand-alone hybrid renewable energy system by using evolutionary algorithms: A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 16(5):3364–3369, jun 2012.
- [61] Jie Cai, Donghun Kim, Rita Jaramillo, James E. Braun, and Jianghai Hu. A general multi-agent control approach for building energy system optimization. *Energy and Buildings*, 127:337–351, sep 2016.
- [62] Reuven Y. Rubinstein and Dirk P. Kroese. Simulation and the Monte Carlo Method: Third Edition. *Simulation and the Monte Carlo Method: Third Edition*, pages 1–414, nov 2016.
- [63] M. D. McKay, R. J. Beckman, and W. J. Conover. Comparison of Three Methods for Selecting Values of Input Variables in the Analysis of Output from a Computer Code. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00401706.1979.10489755, 21(2):239–245, 2012.
- [64] Peter W. Glynn and Donald L. Iglehart. Importance Sampling for Stochastic Simulations. http://dx.doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.35.11.1367, 35(11):1367–1392, nov 1989.
- [65] Mahmoud G. Hemeida, Salem Alkhalaf, Tomonobu Senjyu, Abdalla Ibrahim, Mahrous Ahmed, and Ayman M. Bahaa-Eldin. Optimal probabilistic location of DGs using Monte Carlo simulation based different bio-inspired algorithms. *Ain Shams Engineering Journal*, 12(3):2735– 2762, sep 2021.
- [66] Fabian Neumann and Tom Brown. The near-optimal feasible space of a renewable power system model. *Electric Power Systems Research*, 190:106690, jan 2021.

- [67] Jr. E. Downey Brill, Shoou-Yuh Chang, and Lewis D. Hopkins. Modeling to Generate Alternatives: The HSJ Approach and an Illustration Using a Problem in Land Use Planning. *http://dx.doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.28.3.221*, 28(3):221–235, mar 1982.
- [68] F. Lombardi. SEEDS project-Deliverable 1.1 Empirically derived methods to increase the computational efficiency of modelling to generate alternatives in energy system analysis (TurboSPORES). 2021.
- [69] F. Lombardi. TurboSPORES International Conference on Operations Research, Bern 2021 -YouTube, sep 2021.
- [70] D. Connolly, H. Lund, B. V. Mathiesen, and M. Leahy. A review of computer tools for analysing the integration of renewable energy into various energy systems. *Applied Energy*, 87(4):1059– 1082, apr 2010.
- [71] Energypedia. Open Models wiki.openmod-initiative.org, mar 2021.
- [72] Mark Howells, Holger Rogner, Neil Strachan, Charles Heaps, Hillard Huntington, Socrates Kypreos, Alison Hughes, Semida Silveira, Joe DeCarolis, Morgan Bazillian, and Alexander Roehrl. OSeMOSYS: The Open Source Energy Modeling System: An introduction to its ethos, structure and development. *Energy Policy*, 39(10):5850–5870, oct 2011.
- [73] Constantinos Taliotis, Abhishek Shivakumar, Eunice Ramos, Mark Howells, Dimitris Mentis, Vignesh Sridharan, Oliver Broad, and Linus Mofor. An indicative analysis of investment opportunities in the African electricity supply sector — Using TEMBA (The Electricity Model Base for Africa). Energy for Sustainable Development, 31:50–66, apr 2016.
- [74] Stefan Pfenninger and Bryn Pickering. Calliope: a multi-scale energy systems modelling framework. *Journal of Open Source Software*, 3(29):825, sep 2018.
- [75] Y. van Til and F. Lombardi. Interviews and meeting with Francesco Lombardi.
- [76] Bryn Pickering and Ruchi Choudhary. Quantifying resilience in energy systems with out-ofsample testing. *Applied Energy*, 285:116465, mar 2021.
- [77] S. Pfenninger and B. Pickering. Introduction Calliope 0.6.7 documentation, 2013.
- [78] Pernille Seljom and Asgeir Tomasgard. Short-term uncertainty in long-term energy system models A case study of wind power in Denmark. *Energy Economics*, 49:157–167, may 2015.
- [79] GoodfellowIan, Pouget-AbadieJean, MirzaMehdi, XuBing, Warde-FarleyDavid, OzairSherjil, CourvilleAaron, and BengioYoshua. Generative adversarial networks. *Communications of the* ACM, 63(11):139–144, oct 2020.
- [80] Hamed Hashemi-Dezaki, Mohsen Hamzeh, Hossein Askarian-Abyaneh, and Homayoun Haeri-Khiavi. Risk management of smart grids based on managed charging of PHEVs and vehicle-to-grid strategy using Monte Carlo simulation. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 100:262–276, aug 2015.
- [81] Ahmad Mohamed Abd El Motaleb, Sarah Kazim Bekdache, and Lázaro Alvarado Barrios. Optimal sizing for a hybrid power system with wind/energy storage based in stochastic environment. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 59:1149–1158, jun 2016.
- [82] Yao Dong, Zhenhai Guo, Jianzhou Wang, and Haiyan Lu. The forecasting procedure for long-term wind speed in the Zhangye area. *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, 2010, 2010.
- [83] B. Rajanarayan Prusty and Debashisha Jena. An over-limit risk assessment of PV integrated power system using probabilistic load flow based on multi-time instant uncertainty modeling. *Renewable Energy*, 116:367–383, feb 2018.
- [84] European Commission Joint Research Centre. Photovoltaic Geographical Information System (PVGIS) | EU Science Hub, 2021.
- [85] NEDU. Verbruiksprofielen NEDU.

- [86] Liander. Beschikbare data | Liander.
- [87] KNMI. Home | KNMI Dataplatform.
- [88] Technical Committee. ISO ISO 15927-4:2005 Hygrothermal performance of buildings Calculation and presentation of climatic data Part 4: Hourly data for assessing the annual energy use for heating and cooling. Technical report, ISO, 2005.
- [89] M. Rouaud. Probability, Statistics and Estimation Propagation of Uncertainties in Experimental Measurement. 2013.
- [90] Aimee Bailey and Stephanie Jumel. Thermal Microgrids: Technology, Economics and Opportunity. Technical report, EDF Innovation Lab, Los Altos, dec 2017.

# A Case 1 Continued

To briefly test what Calliope can do in the context of this thesis, a relatively simple test case will be defined and tested in combination with both uncertainty methods. This test case will be used to see how the combined method reacts to different inputs and if it can provide relevant insights for the continuation of this thesis. The chosen test case will be modeled in a way that the following aspects can be analyzed: - Transmission losses - Battery losses (roundtrip and self-discharge) - The impact of high and low demand on different locations - Choosing between two PV types with different efficiencies, when installed in two possible inclinations. - The impact of different demand profiles - The impact of different solar profiles. As said before, the aim of this thesis is not to be able to model (uncertain) aspects in the most perfect way, but to be able to assess them in the best way, provided they are correct. Therefore, for this test case, many assumptions have been made, based on current day values and reasonable estimates. The remainder of this chapter entails the operational assumptions of the test case, the approach, and relevant findings.

# A.1 Parameters

# A.1.1 Timeseries:

- Yearly timeseries data for each run, with hourly datapoints.
- Both the uncertain timeseries data are based on historic datasets. This is done to make sure that the used timeseries are realistic. As said before, the goal of this test case is to be able to process the data correctly, provided that the data is correct/realistic.

# A.1.2 Uncertain Demand Profiles:

• The demand profiles are based on historic data between 2005 and 2019. In region X1, the 3 households follow average national demand profiles, whereas the 3 households in region X2 follow an above average demand profile (1.1\*average). Fractional electricity profiles have been taken from [19] and average annual consumption [kWh] from [18] (from [18], the S21 profile has been used (Electricity - Household with Night Consumption/Day Consumption ratio < 1.3 (or Grid User without an exclusive nightly rate if no consumption history))). The fractional data from [19] has datasets per 15 minutes, therefore the data has been transferred to average fraction per hour by taking the average of 4 values per hour. Then, for each year, the measured fractions are multiplied with the average consumption [kWh] of that year and with the number of households in that region (3). In [18], there is only demand data for 2009-2019. The demand for 2005-2008 has been interpolated from the 2009-2019 data. For region X2, those timeseries have been multiplied with 1.1 to create a "high demand" dataset. When looking at [18], there is a clear trend of decreasing electricity usage between 2010 and 2019, which is most likely due to the increasing energy efficiency of electrical components.

## A.1.3 Uncertain Solar Profiles:

• Chosen: Solar timeseries from 2005 to 2019 are taken from [6]. They have been taken from a location in the Netherlands. Timeseries for solar panels inclined at 50 degrees (X1) and at 0 degrees are both used.

# A.1.4 Supply Grid Power:

- Chosen: 0.2 kg CO<sub>2</sub>/kWh from the grid expected in 2030 [2] [3] [4].
- Chosen: 0.2 kg CO<sub>2</sub>/kWh from the grid expected in 2030 [2] [3] [4].
- Chosen: 0.125 EU / kg CO<sub>2</sub> -> CO<sub>2</sub> costs/kg [1].
- Chosen: 0.025 EU/kWh CO<sub>2</sub> tax (almost insignificant)
- Chosen: The grid connection is only available at location X3, to be able to model the effects of transmission losses.
- Assumed: Total price per kWh from grid = 0.5 EU/kWh.
- Assumed: Lifetime 50 years
- Assumed: Max capacity 25 kW (should be enough, can also be inf).
- Assumed: 15 EU/kW grid capacity is copied from the urban scale example.
- Assumed: Unlimited supply of electricity.

### A.1.5 Batteries:

- Chosen: 55 EU per kWh storage capacity based on 2030 projections [7].
- Chosen: Round trip Energy efficiency of 90% (0,9487% single trip) [10].
- Chosen: Storage losses 5% per month [15].
- Chosen: Lifetime = 12 years in Pyreneen [16]?
- Chosen: Cyclic storage = true (SOC on timepoint 1 = SOC on last timepoint).
- Assumed: 4 kW of (dis)charge capacity per 1 kWh of storage capacity.
- Assumed: Initial State of Charge (SOC) of 50%.
- Assumed: Max total battery storage is taken as 150 kWh over total system.

### A.1.6 Region X1:

- Chosen: 3 houses, house 1, 2, 3.
- Chosen: Inclination 50°
- Chosen: lat 51,75625 lon 4,16435
- Assumed: Total region available surface area for PV: 60 m2 [5].

## A.1.7 Region X2:

- Chosen: 3 houses, house 4, 5, 6.
- Chosen: Inclination  $0^{\circ}$
- Chosen: lat 51,75625 lon 4,16435
- Assumed: Total region available surface area for PV: 100 m2 [5].

### A.1.8 Region X3:

• Chosen: Grid connection only.

### A.1.9 Power Lines (underground):

- Chosen: Lifetime = 40 years [22]
- Chosen: Distance power lines:
  - X1 <-> X2: chosen as 0.6 km
  - X2 <-> X3: chosen as 2.5 km
  - X3 <-> X1: chosen as 1.5 km
- Assumed: Efficiency per km distance = 95%
- Assumed: Cost per distance = 0.01 (taken from urban scale example).

### A.1.10 Cost

• Assumed: Interest rate chosen as 10%, taken from the urban scale example.

## A.1.11 PV Panels

- PV1: Polycrystalline panel
  - Chosen: Efficiency = 18% [20]
  - Chosen: Resource per area cap = 5.84 m2 needed for 1 kWp of installed PV [20].
  - Chosen: Lifetime = 25 years [17]
  - Chosen: Expected O&M costs: 0.2 EU/kW/year [12].
  - Assumed: Parasitic efficiency 85% (invertors).
  - Assumed: Expected cost per 1 kWp = 700 EU/kWp.
  - Assumed: Export excess PV energy: 0.2 EU/kWh.
- PVtwo: Monocrystalline panels
  - Chosen: Resource per area cap = 4.99 m2 needed for 1 kWp of installed pv [21].
  - Chosen: Lifetime = 30 years [17].
  - Chosen: Expected O&M costs = 0.2 EU/kW/year [12].
  - Assumed: Parasitic efficiency 95% (inverters)
  - Assumed: Efficiency = 25%
  - Assumed: Expected cost per 1 kWp = 1000 EU/kWp.
  - Assumed: Export excess pv energy: 0.2 EU/kWh.

# A.2 Uncertain Input Timeseries

# A.3 Algorithm/Approach

After choosing the solar profiles, demand profiles and after defining the test case model, the first step "Inputs", is completed. Then, the simulation settings in Calliope must be defined. For the objective function for this test case is chosen to minimize cost. For the SPOREs options, it was chosen to take 15% cost slack. Due to low computational power of 1 laptop (HPC connection was still





Figure A.1: An example of an annual (2005) timeseries for the solar yield, used in case 1.



Figure A.3: Yearly averages for the solar yield in 2005-2019 for locations X1 (50°) and X2 (0°), used in case 1.

Demand for the 3 houses on location X1 in 2005



Figure A.2: An example of an annual (2005) timeseries for the electrical demand, used in case 1.



Figure A.4: Yearly averages for the electrical demand in 2005-2019 for locations X1 and X2, used in case 1.

in progress), it was chosen to run the test case with only 4 SPOREs. Meaning that for each MCA (Monte Carlo Analysis) scenario, the optimal solution, and 4 structurally different 15% more expensive solutions will be found. 15 MCA scenarios were chosen. Based on historic data (realistic data), with each scenario having a equal 1/15 (6,67% chance) probability of occurring. The following step is the stage 1 results, where the model behavior will be presented and where the possible capacity ranges for a cost slack of 15% will be discussed. Then configurations will be chosen based upon the configuration strategy. The chosen configurations' performance will then be tested on all the 15 possible Monte Carlo scenarios on the metrics Security of Supply, CO<sub>2</sub> emitted and total cost in the "operation" mode in Calliope. The results of this final step will lead to essential statements that can be found in the last chapter. The standard SPORE method is applied, only for case 2, the evolving average is used.



Monthly demand in 2005

Figure A.5: Monthly averages for the solar yield in 2005 for locations X1 (50°) and X2 (0°), used in case 1.

Figure A.6: Monthly averages for the electrical demand in 2005 for locations X1 and X2, used in case 1.

# A.4 Solution Configuration Space

For all capacities except battery, the graph is in [kW], for the battery capacity, the graph is in [kW]. As explained in the last progress presentation, for each year, the optimal solution will be calculated (top left -> SPORE 0), and 4 SPOREs will be created, where the cost value is increased by 15%, but the solution space is changed. You can see that, within 15% cost slack, the model can also work without X1-X2 power cable connection, and that the PV/Pvtwo division can also change, while still being feasible.



Figure A.7: Single solutions for SPOREs 0, 1, 3 and 4.

# A.4.1 Normal Winter Week Behavior:

The model behaves as expected. All the PV power is directly used, and excess pv is stored in the batteries. When the batteries are empty, the grid power is used (figure A.8).



Figure A.8: Timeseries for the electrical and storage flows during a winter week, for input scenario 1, SPORE 0.

# A.4.2 Summer Week Behavior:

Due to perfect foresight, the model always charges exactly what it will need the next day. Since there is a self-discharge loss modeled over time, the charging happens late on the day to prevent self-discharge losses. The remainder is sold back to the grid, since there is a positive export price.



Figure A.9: Timeseries for the electrical and storage flows during a summer week, for input scenario 1, SPORE 0.

## A.4.3 Storage Usage:

Despite being able to charge excess pv energy for the battery, the model prefers to sell the excess pv, and buy grid power later, since it is simply cheaper. Objective function = cheap as possible. Therefore, this happens. The 2 purple blocks of grid import cost less than storing instead of exporting.



Figure A.10: Timeseries for the electrical flows during a week in autumn, for input scenario 1, SPORE 0.

### A.4.4 Capacity Ranges:

The infomation of this subsection can be found in chapter 4.1.

### A.4.5 Configuration Selection and Testable Configurations Continued:

The exact configuration dimensions can be found in table A.1. These dimensions have been used in Calliope to run the Evaluation against all 15 input scenarios.

Table A.1: The configurations, selected from the configuration solution space through the cumbersome selection method.

		Config 1	Config 2	Config 3	Config 4	
Location	Technology	Capacity	Capacity	Capacity	Capacity	
	Scenario	2008	2019	2015	2008	
	Spore	optimal	optimal	spore 4	optimal	
X1	battery	27.82 kWh (max)	19.201 kWh	15.196 kWh	20.932 kWh	
X1	demand electricity	3.16 kW	2.1 kW	2.48 kW	2.21 kW	
X1	pv	10.27 kWp (max)	10.27 kWp (max)	10.27 kWp (max)	10.27 kWp (max)	
X1	pvtwo	0 kWp	0 kWp	0 kWp	0 kWp	
X2	battery	23.37 kWh	17.584 kWh	16.736 kWh	17.942 kWh	
X2	demand electricity	3.48 kW	2.31 kW	2.73 kW	2.43 kW	
X2	pv	0 kWp	0 kWp	3.946 kWp	0 kWp	
X2	pvtwo	20.04 kWp (max)	20.04 kWp (max)	15.42 kWp (max)	20.04 kWp (max)	
X3	supply grid power	5.396 kW	3.171 kW	2.856 kW	3.519 kW	
X1<->X2	Power lines	2.416 kW	1.577 kW	0.0216 kW	1.643 kW	
X1<->X3	Power lines	0 kW	0 kW	1.454 kW	0 kW	
X2<->X3	Power lines	5.396 kW	3.171 kW	1.402 kW	3.519 kW	

# A.5 Problems and Discussion Case 1

Small and general:

- Power lines had an unrealistic cost function,
  - Find and use an actual cost for cables
- A 10% interest rate is used for all components, but it's based upon nothing, Mikel said that this depends on the one investing:
  - Self-investing: interest rate should equal the inflation rate
  - Borrowing: interest rate should be equal to the lending rate
  - Investor: interest rate depends on the expected risk and on the interest rate if that money is spent on a different project.
- 4 SPOREs is not enough
  - HPC information received from Rene, we can use it to put the hpc to work.
- Can and should we include charging strategies in the model? (charge battery before selling to the grid)
- What should the SPORE slack % be based upon?
  - Samuel: design phase -> 50% uncertainty?
  - Francesco: use multiple slack %'s to see the effect.
- These solutions are of course based upon perfect representation of all components and uncertain variables, is that a problem?
  - Remember, within my scope is the method to work, not to be a fortune teller or to be a person that calls all the companies for what the exact component specifications are.
- The timeseries are still per hour, so the actual capacities should be capable to handle the peak demand.

Configurations choice:

- We are currently using only optimal or SPORE solutions as configurations, is that okay? Is it not also reasonable to use freestyle?
  - Using freestyle brings us back to including the human error into the equation.
- If a technology is still on the "essential technology" list, can the slack then be changed to remove it from that list?
  - Samuel: we will not do that, if they would have wanted that so badly, it could have been included in the model criteria (minimum/maximum capacity for that technology).

### Operate mode:

- More metrics to score against, other than SOS, CO<sub>2</sub> & \$
  - Yes (read back the tape)
- Storage is broken,
  - Will discuss this with Francesco
- For the results I used yearly costs, this should be returned to NPV
  - Yes, investigate economics behind the NPV a bit more.
- Is the 24-48 horizon window large and realistic enough?
  - We will see if it is a problem, if it is, we will investigate changing it, otherwise, we won't.

# A.6 References Case 1

# [1] [2] [3] [4] [5] [6] [7] [8] [9] [10] [11] [12] [15] [16] [17] [18] [19] [20] [21] [22]

# **B** Parametric Uncertainty Approaches Continued

# **B.1** Parametric Uncertainty: Stochastic Programming (SP)

Stochastic programming is based on solving a large equivalent of deterministic options that are defined by taking known stochastic variable distributions. It operates by making decisions before an uncertainty takes place, based on the information that the model has available at that moment. For example, for a solar and diesel-powered energy system, for each time stage, there is a known probability that solar energy production will be either high, medium, or low. However, deciding how much diesel fuel must be bought beforehand to cover the low solar production scenarios, without overspending, must be done in the most strategical way. The SP method calculates all possible scenario outcome probabilities (figure decision tree) and their consequences and finds the optimal hedging strategy that will result in the least amount of lost benefit (objective function) despite the actual scenario outcome.



Figure B.1: Multiple stage, stochastic programming decision tree [2.2.2.0, Cobuloglu].

However, for every additional stage or additional uncertain parameter, the computational require-

ment for SP increases exponentially. It also requires a more in-depth information of the uncertain variables. Most studies have been limited to 2- or 3-time stages and no more than 10 possible "State of Worlds" (SOW), meaning possible results for uncertain variable (e.g., high, medium, low production for solar production). For long-term planning, the stage limit is though.

[2.2.2.0] Cobuloglu, H. I., & Esra Büyüktahtakın. (2017). A two-stage stochastic mixed-integer programming approach to the competition of biofuel and food production. Computers and Industrial Engineering, 107, 251–263.

[2.2.2.1] DeCarolis, J., Daly, H., Dodds, P., Keppo, I., Li, F., McDowall, W., Pye, S., Strachan, N., Trutnevyte, E., Usher, W., Winning, M., Yeh, S., & Zeyringer, M. (2017). Formalizing best practice for energy system optimization modelling. Applied Energy, 194, 184–198.

# **B.2** Parametric Uncertainty: Robust Optimization (RO)

Robust optimization is simply said, a type of worst-case analysis. It takes a simplified approach regarding addressing uncertainty. It defines a set of variables that can be uncertain and calculates optimal solutions while controlling the intensity of uncertainty of said variables through a "budget of uncertainty". If the budget of uncertainty is chosen as zero, all uncertain parameters reflect their nominal values. When the budget of uncertainty is maximized, the most pessimistic approach is taken by letting all uncertain parameters take extreme values, resulting in a highly robust solution. The robustness of the solution is therefore represented by the severity of the uncertainty budget [2.2.3.0, Ben-Tal].

Robust optimization can avoid a high computational burden and account for many uncertain variables by representing them in a simplified worst-case manner. In other studies, robust optimization was used for providing insights like the cost to hedge against uncertainty [2.2.3.1] and the identification of key hedging technologies [2.2.3.2, Labriet]. Despite being able to provide the most robust solution against maximum uncertainty, RO does not provide a strategy that can cope with all the possible outcomes [2.2.1.2,Yue]. Furthermore, RO is limited and only capable of addressing parametric uncertainty.

[2.2.3.0] Ben-Tal, A., El Ghaouni, L., & Nemirovski, A. (2009). Robust Optimization. Princeton University Press.

[2.2.3.1] Lorne, Daphne, & Tchung-Ming, Stephane (Oct 2012). The French biofuels mandates under cost uncertainty - an assessment based on robust optimization (INIS-FR–14-0518). France

[2.2.3.2] M. Labriet, C. Nicolas, S. Tchung-Ming, A. Kanudia, R. Loulou Energy Decisions in an Uncertain Climate and Technology Outlook: How Stochastic and Robust Methodologies Can Assist Policy-makers Informing Energy Clim. Policies Using Energy Syst. Model, Springer International Publishing (2015), pp. 69-91,

# C Case 2 Continued

# C.1 Parameters

	Grid								Hydrogen
Technology:	power	PV Poly	H2 pipe	Cables	Heat pipe	Cold pipe	Electrolyzer	Fuel cell	boiler
Technology type	supply	supply	transmission	transmission	transmission	transmission	conversion+	conversion+	conversion
Energy carrier in	-	-	hydrogen	electricity	heat	cooling	electricty	hydrogen	hydrogen
Energy carrier out 1	electricity	electricity	hydrogen	electricity	heat	cooling	hydrogen	heat	heat
Energy carrier out 2	-	-	-	-	-	-	heat	electricity	-
Lifetime [year]	50	25	25	25	25	25	14	14	10
Efficiency [%]	100	95 and 18	100	99.9%/km	99%/km	99%/km	77 and 19	55 and 40	100
Cost [EU/kW]	1000	1100 / <u>kWp</u>	15 EU/km	10 EU/km	10 EU/km	10 EU/km	1950	2500	2000
Cost [EU/kWh]	timeseries	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cost O&M [EU/year]	-	33	50 EU/km	-	50 EU/km	50 EU/km	-	-	-
CO2 [Kg/kW]	-	20	30 kg/km	1 kg/km	30 kg/km	30 kg/km	-	750	1
CO2 [Kg/kWh]	0.2	0.04	-	-	-	-	0.001102564	-	-
Storage CO2 [kg/kWh]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Storage cost [EU/kWh]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Interest rate [%]	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Minimum SOC [%]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Self-discharge [%/hour]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
kWh / kW ratio [-]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Storage initial SOC [%]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Min kW(h/p)	-	375 <u>kWp</u>	-	-	-	-	42 kW	42 kW	-
Max kW(h/p)	-	750 kWp	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Resource	infinite	timeseries	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Location	X1	X1	X2-X3-X4	X1-X2-X3-X5	X6X2X3X4X5	X2-X6-X5	X2	Х3	X4

Table C.1: Assumptions and Parameters of Case 2.

# C.1.1 General

- Timeseries:
  - Yearly timeseries data for each run, with hourly datapoints (15 minute and 5-minute time-series have been translated to hourly datapoints, while keeping the maximum peak load the same).
- Chosen: global monetary interest rate of 3%.

Technology:	Heat Pump	Cold storage	Heat storage	H2 storage	Battery	Electrical export	Heat demand	Cooling demand	Elec. Demand
0,					•	· · ·		•	
Technology type	conversion	storage	storage	storage	storage	demand	demand	demand	demand
Energy carrier in	electricity	cooling	heat	hydrogen	electricity	-	-	-	-
Energy carrier out 1	cooling	cooling	heat	hydrogen	electricity	electricity	heat	cooling	electricity
Energy carrier out 2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Lifetime [year]	20	40	40	40	22	-	-	-	-
Efficiency [%]	900 (cop 9)	100 round trip	100 round trip	100 round trip	90 round trip	-	-	-	-
Cost [EU/kW]	1350	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cost [EU/kWh]	-	-	-	-	-	- 0.01	-	-	-
Cost O&M [EU/year]	6	-	-	-	10.91	-	-	-	-
CO2 [Kg/kW]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
CO2 [Kg/kWh]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Storage CO2 [kg/kWh]	-	5	5	5	117.5	-	-	-	-
Storage cost [EU/kWh]	-	4	4	40	55	-	-	-	-
Interest rate [%]	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
Minimum SOC [%]	-	0.1	0.1	1	30	-	-	-	-
Self-discharge [%/hour]	-	0.005	0.005	0.00005	XXX??	-	-		-
kWh / kW ratio [-]	-	-	-	-	2.75	-	-	-	-
Storage initial SOC [%]	-	1	1	1	50	-	-		-
Min kW(h/p)	-	-	-	13000 kWh	-	-	-	-	
Max kW(h/p)	-	730 kWh	2187.5 kWh	65000 kWh	-	10 kW	-		-
Resource	-	-	-	-	-	timeseries	timeseries	timeseries	timeseries
Location	X2	X6	X6	ХЗ	X2	X1	X5	X5	X5

Table C.2: Assumptions and Parameters of Case 2, Continued.

### C.1.2 Chosen Physical Limitations for Neighbourhood of 100 Households

- PV: minimum is 375 kWp, maximum is 750 kWp (available rooftop area). Minimum is 50% as newly built houses are highly likely to have PV panels on them.
- Cold and Hot water storage: Physical Maximum of 125 m3 for 100 households for both types of storage. (2187.5 kWh hot storage, 730 kWh cold storage).
- Hydrogen storage: Minimum of 1 tube trailer, maximum of 5 tube trailers (safety issues).
- Electrolyzer = minimally 20% of average total demand per hour (avg demand = cool + heat + dhw + elec = 210 kWh/hour) -> 0,2 \* 210 = 42 kW.
- Fuel cell = same as minimum electrolyzer -> 42 kW minimum capacity.
- Grid minimum installed capacity is 3450 kW

## C.1.3 Uncertain Profiles

- "Uncertain" demand profiles, 100 households are used, consisting of 10 rows of 10 houses, resulting in 80 terrace households, and 20 side/corner houses. Each house is assumed to have an average surface area of 100 m2 and 2 floors [invulversie].
  - Heating demand
    - \* The total heat demand [kWh] consists of both the domestic hot water demand (DHW) and the Thermostat heating demand (TH). The base case is 100%, the high demand case is 120%, and the frugal case is 80%.
      - DHW profile from 2017 is used from [secret W+B file], and multiplied with 100 households annual demand from [invulversie]
      - TH profile is calculated through [secret W+B file], based on historic temperature timeseries from 2017, measured in "de Bilt". And multiplied with 100 house-holds annual demand from [invulversie].

- \* The total heat demand is assumed to use the 65 C hot water, over a Delta Temperature of 15 C. (Tout heating demand = 50C)
- Cooling demand:
  - \* The cooling demand is calculated in a similar manner through [secret W&B file] as the heating TH demand, but it is flipped and multiplied with the annual cooling demand for these houses from [invulversie].
  - \* The base case is 100%, the high demand case is 120%, and the frugal case is 80%.
  - \* The total cooling demand is assumed to use the 15 C cold water over a Delta Temperature of 5 C (Tout cooling = 20C).
- Electrical demand:
  - \* The electrical demand fractional profiles from [Nedu] 2017 are used and multiplied with the total annual demand of the 100 households. For this case, S21 profiles are chosen [hy.60].
  - \* The base case is 100
- "Uncertain" solar profiles:
  - Chosen: Solar timeseries are based upon 2017 historic data, measured in "de Bilt". The timeseries are in kWh produced per installed kWp [kWh/kWp/hour] and taken from [6].
- "Uncertain" grid electricity price profiles
  - Chosen: price timeseries, based upon the historic data from 2017, from [hy.70], [hy.71].

### C.1.4 Heat Pumps

Water source Heat pump: for small domestic projects it costs around 2000 EU/kW of installed capacity, for larger domestic/commercial projects, the capex are 1150 EU/kW (calculated from pounds) [hy.1]. Another source mentions a capital cost of (2009 pound = 1.26 2021 pound -> 1350 EU/kW installed) 1350 Eu/kW [hy.2] [hy.3]. 1350 EU/kW is chosen. For a commercial/public water heat pump system, a typical lifetime is 20 years[hy.2] [hy.3]. Another source mentions a heat pump lifetime of 15 years [hy.7]. 20 years is chosen. The operational costs of such a system is (one 2009 pound = 1.26 pound in 2021 -> 6 Eu/kW/year.) 6 Eu/kW/year [hy.2] [hy.3]. The COP for heating water depends on the difference of the "ambient temperature" (the input water/air) and the targeted heating water temperature. COP =  $0.0023 * (Toutout - Tsourcein)^2 - 0.2851 * (Toutout - Tsourcein) + 10.677 ->$  for a Toutout of 65 C, the COP with 20 C input would be 2.505, rounding up to 2.5 for the model. For an output temperature of 15 degrees for the floor heating cooling, the COP would be around 9. [hy.1].

### C.1.5 Heat and Cold Storage

Heat and cold storage (sensible water tank heat storage) is modeled with a round trip efficiency of 100%, but a self-discharge of 0.5% per hour assuming highly insulated storage vessels. Cost of it ranges between 0.1-10/kWh storage capacity [hy.4], 4 EU/kWh is chosen. Hot water storage should be done at 60 degrees Celsius to kill bacteria, 65 degrees is chosen [hy.5]. The cold-water storage will occur at a temperature of 15 C, as the only cooling demand is the floor heating, which occurs around 15C [hy.45] [hy.9]. The floor heating (DHW) is done at 35 degrees [hy.10]. For the thermal energy system, there is always unlimited water available at a temperature of 20C (ambient temperature). This is used to justify the assumptions on water quality for heating and cooling purposes. CO<sub>2</sub> at production is neglected. The lifetime is estimated at 50 years.

# C.1.6 Electrical Li-ion Battery

Nissan leaf battery leasing in the Netherlands is offered at 100 EU / month -> 1200 EU / year / 40 kWh = 30 EU / year / kWh. The power of one Nissan leaf battery = 110 kW [hy.6]. Resulting in a 2.75 charge cap / storage cap ratio. Chosen initial and minimum state of charge of the batteries is 30% [hy.46]. Lithium-ion batteries produce between 39 and 196 kg CO<sub>2</sub> / kWh of charging capacity, take average of 117.5 kg CO<sub>2</sub>/kWh is used [hy.8]. lifetime is 22 years [hy.47]. Leaseplan promises minimum capacity and efficiency etc. roundtrip efficiency lithium-ion batteries = 90%. Self-discharge for lithium-ion batteries it is 2.5 percent per month [hy.48].

# C.1.7 PEM Fuel Cell

PEM fuel cells are chosen. Fuel cell CHP electrical and thermal efficiency if used in chp form, electrical = 40%, thermal = 55%. [hy.19]. When looking at the lifetime of a PEM fuel cell, the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, emitted during production, 750 kG CO<sub>2</sub> / kW. [hy.19]. Fuel cell costs in 2020 are 2500 EU/kW installed [hy.15]. PEM electrolyzer lifetime: 40000 hours, but with an ESTIMATED uptime of 33%, 13,6892539357 years of lifetime is expected. Rounded up to 14 years. This 33% is based on an expectation that excess energy is available mostly during the day in the summer [hy.18]. Fuel cell PEM operating temperature 50-100 degrees. [hy.28] [hy.17], 80C is chosen.

# C.1.8 PEM Electrolyzer

PEM electrolyzer is chosen. The CAPEX of a PEM electrolyzer are 1950 Euro/kW for PEM systems. The OPEX are assumed negligible since they mostly depend on the electricity "price" [hy.21]. Electrolyzer  $CO_2$  emissions (from electrolyzer production) are 0,043 kg  $CO_2$  per kg of h2 (39 kWh = 1 kg h2), resulting in 0,001102564103 kg  $CO_2$  per kWh of h2 produced for the electrolyzer [hy.22]. PEM electrolyzer electrical efficiency is between 65-82% [hy.13], 80% is chosen. The cooling water will be between 80 and 90 degrees [hy.25] [hy.26]. 80 C is chosen. Operation costs are negligible, as they are mostly dominated by the electricity price [hy.21]. Lifetime is expected at 40000 hours. With 33% expected uptime since mostly active during hot summer days, 14 years of lifetime is expected [hy.18]. For every kWh of electricity, 80% will go into h2 production, and 90% of 20% will go into heat recovery [hy.20]. To include the hydrogen storage compression energy cost, an average value of 2 kWh per kg of h2 stored is used [hy.24]. This is included in the total efficiency of the electrolyzer (77% electrical efficiency, rest is used for compression).

# C.1.9 Hydrogen Storage

Hydrogen storage  $CO_2$  emissions (from storage tank and compressor production) 0,004358974359 kg  $CO_2$  per kWh of hydrogen compressed and stored in the storage tank [hy.22]. Hydrogen compression is expected to be around 2 kWh per kg h2 produced and is included in the electrolyzer efficiency. It is based on 3-5 compression stages, to an outlet pressure of 445-495 bara. The range comprises both regularly air-cooled systems, as well as actively cooled system [hy.24]. This compression electrical requirement is implemented within the efficiency of the electrolyzer, meaning that next to the electrolyzer efficiency of 75%, the additional requirement of 2 kWh per kg h2 produced is included as well [hy.24]. CSD (compression, storage, and decompression) in 2020 is 0,68 EU/kg h2 -> 0,01743589744 EU/kWh h2. [hy.23]. For the specifications of hydrogen storage, tube trailers are used. One tube trailer has a volume of about 16.2 m3 [hy.61]. If hydrogen is stored at 300 bar (commonly done), the density is 20,537 [hy.62], 334.2 kg can be stored in 1 tube trailer. Since 1 kg of hydrogen has a potential of 39 kWh, 13000 kWh can be stored in 1 tube trailer. 10 EU/kWh storage capacity is assumed.

# C.1.10 Hydrogen Boiler

Hydrogen boiler burns around 300 degrees [hy.29]. has 100% efficiency. Costs are taken as the equivalent cost of normal gas boilers [hy.50] and will be around. Average boiler for 1 household is 30 kW, average cost for 1 boiler is 1750 EU, cost per kW is 60 EU [hy.51], [hy.52], rounded up to 100 EU/kW.  $CO_2$  due to production is neglected.

# C.1.11 PV

PV Polycrystalline panels with 18% efficiency [20]. Lifetime of 25 years [17]. O&m costs of 33 EU/kWp/year [hy.32]. 0.04 kg CO<sub>2</sub> / kWh produced by solar panels [hy.33]. installation cost of 1100 EU/kWp [hy.32]. system efficiency of 95%. Minimum installed capacity 375 kWp (50% of average rooftop surface), maximum installed capacity 750 kWp (100% of average rooftop surface). Since these are newly built households, the regulations dictate that they are built as sustainably as possible, resulting in at least 50% coverage of pv panels for the rooftops. Average rooftop area per household is 55 m2 [hy.63], let's say that 80% of that area is effectively usable, for 100 households, this results in 4400 m2 available for pv panels. 6 m2 is required to install 1 kWp of the chosen pv [20], resulting in a max pv capacity of 750 kWp. The average angle for the households is taken as 45 degrees in the Netherlands [hy.64]. It is assumed that the households are built with their roofs aimed towards the south.

# C.1.12 Electricity Export

Max 10 kW of export available, with 0.01 EU/kWh profit. This is chosen to impede dumping excess pv energy on the grid when the sun shines, but to create the possibility to return energy to the grid. The capacity costs of export are 0 EU/kW, as the excess electricity can flow through the supply grid technology.

# C.1.13 Grid

In 2030, it is expected that the applied carbon tax will be equal to 0.150 EU/kg of CO<sub>2</sub> emitted [1]. It is also expected that in the Netherlands, the grid will consist for 0.2 kg CO<sub>2</sub> emissions per kWh of produced electricity [2], [3], [4], as the expected share of renewable generation will increase. To calculate the costs for new grid connection, per single household, a 3phase 3x50A connection is considered, resulting in 1611 EU / 3x50A connection, which is 34500 W (230\*50\*3) connection. This will be by default the minimum installed capacity since each household will be equipped with it. Meaning that per kW, the cost for grid connection is equal to 33,6695652174 EU/kW [hy.111] [hy.112] [hy.113]. For 100 households, this means that the minimum installed capacity is 3450 kW. This is chosen as fixed to cope with the electricity peak demands that are missed due to the hourly electrical demand resolution. The assumed lifetime of such a grid connection is estimated at 50 years. It is also assumed that an infinite amount of electricity can be taken from the grid. O&M costs are neglected for the grid connection as they will most likely be paid for by the consumer.

# C.1.14 Electrical Cables

50 years of lifetime is considered [hy.117]. 10 EU / m OR (supersimple case) 100 EU /kW. We assume a 1% loss per km. 10 kg of  $CO_2$  per m per kW assumed.

# C.1.15 Heating Pipes

50 yeas of lifetime is considered [hy.115]. 200 EU / m [hy.116] OR (supersimple case) 100 EU /kW. We assume a 1% loss per km. 10 kg of  $CO_2$  per m per kW assumed.

# C.1.16 Cooling Pipes

50 yeas of lifetime is considered [hy.115]. 200 EU / m [hy.116] OR (supersimple case) 100 EU /kW. We assume a 1% loss per km. 10 kg of  $CO_2$  per m per kW assumed. . For all transmission technologies, it is assumed that, as they will only portray a small part of the costs, that the peak demands can be supplied by the storages and pipes themselves.

# C.1.17 Hydrogen Pipes

50 years lifetime is considered [hy.115]. 500000 EU per km. OR (supersimple case) 100 EU /kW [hy.114]. 10 kg of  $CO_2$  per m per kW assumed. . No leaking is assumed.

# C.2 Simulation Options

General:	
Temporal resolution:	hourly
Temporal range:	year
Calliope version:	0.6. <u>6.post</u> 1
Mode:	spore
Spore options:	50, 15%, evolving average
Solver:	Gurobi
<u>Solver io</u> :	Python
Ensure feasibility:	True
BigM:	10 e 9
Cyclic storage:	True
Zero threshold:	10 e -10
Objective cost:	monetary 1, spores 0.

Table C.3: Simulation parameters for case 2.

# C.3 Additional Results

Pictures of the cost and CO<sub>2</sub> distribution of the components.



Figure C.1:  $CO_2$  distribution SPORE 0 scenario 1.

# C.4 Overview



Figure C.2: Cost distribution SPORE 0 scenario 1.

# C.5 References Appendix Case 2

[hy.1] [hy.2] [hy.3] [hy.4] [hy.5] [hy.6] [hy.7] [hy.8] [hy.9] [hy.10] [hy.11] [hy.13] [hy.15] [hy.17] [hy.18] [hy.19] [hy.20] [hy.21] [hy.22] [hy.23] [hy.24] [hy.25] [hy.26] [hy.28] [hy.29] [hy.32] [hy.33] [hy.45] [hy.46] [hy.47] [hy.48] [hy.50] [hy.51] [hy.52] [hy.60] [hy.61] [hy.62] [hy.63] [hy.64] [hy.70] [hy.71] [hy.99] [secret W+B file] [invulversie] [nedu] [hy.111] [hy.112] [hy.113] [hy.114] [hy.115] [hy.116] [hy.117] [6] [17] [20] [1] [2] [3] [4]